Contents

Destruction of astronomical systems: theory and observations

A V Tutukov, S V Vereshchagin

DOI: https://doi.org/10.3367/UFNe.2022.11.039287

1.	Introduction	859
	1.1 History of the development of modern ideas about astronomical streams; 1.2 Stellar streams; 1.3 Summary	
2.	Formation of astronomical streams	861
	2.1 Streams of asteroids, comets, and planets; 2.2 Stream parameters and their main relations	
3.	Evolution of comets and asteroids in a planetary system	863
	3.1 Origin of interstellar asteroids, comets, and planets	
4.	Formation and evolution of a dust spear of comets and asteroids	865
	4.1 Meteor spears; 4.2 Results	
5.	ACP and streams of stars and star clusters	868
	5.1 ACP spears of stars; 5.2 Sources of replenishment of stellar ACP spears of stars; 5.3 Interstellar ACP spears;	
	5.4 Decay of star clusters; 5.5 ACP spears of star clusters	
6.	Formation of stellar streams during the destruction of galaxies	871
	6.1 Retrograde stream motion in the Galaxy; 6.2 Consequences of collisions of galaxies	
7.	Causes of the destruction of galaxies and their satellites	874
	7.1 Destruction of the stellar component of a galaxy; 7.2 Role of intergalactic gas in the evolution of galaxies;	
	7.3 Causes of destruction of galaxies and their satellites	
8.	Conclusions	881
	References	881

<u>Abstract.</u> The review is devoted to the analysis of the formation and evolution of streams of astrophysical objects of various natures. The stream components are destructible astronomical objects: comets, asteroids, planets, stars, star clusters, and galaxies. Almost all of these streams are now observed. We discuss the conditions for the destruction of the original objects and for the formation and dissipation of these streams. We construct numerical models of streams generated by comets, asteroids, stars and their clusters, and galaxies in their clusters, and trace the evolution of these streams on the Hubble time scale.

Keywords: kinematics of stellar systems, galaxies, open star clusters, stellar associations, planetary systems, asteroids, comets, planets, exoplanets

1. Introduction

1.1 History of the development of modern ideas about astronomical streams

After the Big Bang, which created the initial hydrogenhelium plasma, the role of the main organizing factor was

A V Tutukov^(a), S V Vereshchagin^(b)

Institute of Astronomy, Russian Academy of Sciences, ul. Pyatnitskaya 48, 119017 Moscow, Russian Federation E-mail: ^(a)atutukov@inasan.ru, ^(b)svvs@ya.ru

Received 4 April 2022, revised 14 November 2022 Uspekhi Fizicheskikh Nauk **193** (9) 913–939 (2023) Translated by S Alekseev taken over by gravity, the force that gave rise to the structural elements observable in the Universe (planets, stars, galaxies, and their systems). Gravity concentrates diffuse matter into the principal observable structures: clusters of galaxies and galaxies, clusters of stars and stars, and planetary systems. Observations and theoretical modeling have shown that there are a number of processes leading to the destruction of all these systems created by both gravity and accumulation: photoevaporation of comet nuclei, expansion of HII zones, supernova bursts, dissipative evolution of systems of Ngravitating bodies, and collisions of galaxies and their tidal destruction. By virtue of the angular momentum conservation law, scattering and destruction of astronomical objects gives rise to large streams of their decay products: meteoric, asteroidal, planetary, gaseous, and stellar. This review is devoted to the processes of destruction of astronomical systems and an analysis of the evolution of structures resulting from such dissipation: streams of dust, asteroids, comets, and stars of various natures.

Any specific subject in astronomy has deep historical roots, and the problem discussed in this paper is no exception. We briefly consider the origin of modern ideas about the patterns of destruction of astronomical systems and the emergence of streams of astronomical objects of various natures. The appearance of comets, along with bursts of supernovae, has long attracted the attention of researchers looking for links between celestial and terrestrial phenomena. For example, due to Aristotle, comets were expelled from the planetary world for nearly two thousand years, according to the following argument. Aristotle believed that, while the planets concentrate toward the Zodiac, comets fill the entire 860

celestial sphere, which relates them to the world of stars. Hippocrates and the Pythagoreans were the first to consider comets to be special planets orbiting the Sun with long periods. In the 16th century, Tycho Brahe [1] regarded comets as part of the Solar System. However, his contemporary Johannes Kepler admitted that some comets are not tied to the Sun, but follow their 'straight' orbits in the stellar world. The recent discovery of comet 2I/Borisov corroborates this idea of Aristotle and Kepler [2]. Newton [3] showed that the motion of comets and planets around the Sun obeys the law of gravity. The periodicity of the appearance of a number of comets in the past was first demonstrated by Halley, directly indicating that they belong to the Solar System.

Immanuel Kant [4] believed that a comet is a solid body evaporated when heated by the Sun at the perihelion of its orbit. Schiaparelli [5], having calculated the orbits of Perseid meteors, found that they coincide with the orbit of comet 109P/Swift–Tuttle. He hence deduced the inevitable evolution of cometary nuclei over time and their transformation into streams of stones and dust of various sizes. This established the modern model of comet nuclei, which are ice blocks several kilometers in size, contaminated with inclusions of dust, sand, and stones. It became clear later that the destruction of other astronomical systems follows the cometary evolution scenario: the formation of streams made of the constituent elements of the destroyed systems.

The study of the physics and evolution of the Solar System has always occupied a particular place in cosmogony, astronomy, physics, philosophy, and occasionally even ideology. Initially, Laplace [6] and Kant [4] linked the formation of the Solar System and other planetary systems to the rapid rotation of the young Sun. This was natural within the scenario that explains the formation of stars by the collapse of rotating gas clouds. The number of possible planetary system formation scenarios has now increased to ten [7]. Nevertheless, Kant's and Laplace's scenario remains the main one for most planetary systems.

The rate of formation of planetary systems was estimated based on the known distribution of multiple stars over the specific angular momentum [8]. During the collapse of a molecular cloud, planetary systems form if the angular momentum of a gaseous protostar is too low for the formation of a close binary system, but too high for its accumulation by a single main-sequence star. The number of single stars with planets expected in this case is approximately 30%. This estimate coincides with the estimates made later by the *Kepler* spacecraft [9].

Detailed numerical simulation of the process of acceleration of asteroids, comets, and small planets by the Sun-Jupiter system allowed studying the pattern of the formation of the Oort cometary cloud and detached interstellar comets and planets [10]. The interstellar ACP (asteroids, comets, planets) component of our Galaxy, given the percentage of planetary systems, can be quite abundant. Some authors believe that, within the Roche lobe of the Sun ($\sim 10^{18}$ cm), the number of interstellar comets of the 2I/Borisov type exceeds the number of solar asteroids [11, 12]. However, the analysis of 11 million orbits of meteors performed in [13] showed that only five of them had hyperbolic orbits relative to the Sun before their encounter with Earth. As regards interstellar meteors, their role as the most representative members of the ACP spears of their stars requires further study to assess their abundance. When searching for such objects, special attention should be paid to potential ACP

spears of stars and star clusters close to the Sun. The study of the physics and evolution of star clusters has always been among the main subjects in astronomy. The 'candle' derived from the main sequence of the Hertzsprung–Russell diagram is a reliable tool for determining the age of stellar systems.

The dynamics of a system of N gravitating point masses has been and remains the source of many problems in the dynamics of planetary, stellar, and galactic systems [14]. Over time, it became clear that virtually all stars are born in star clusters, which typically decay after they lose their gaseous component [15]. It was found that the lifetime of star clusters is limited by a number of factors. As noted in [16], field stars, which inevitably penetrate the volume of a star cluster, 'heat' the stars of the cluster. This leads to a gradual 'evaporation' of the stars in the cluster. Another important factor for the destruction of star clusters is the gravitational interaction of the cluster stars with each other [14, 17, 18]. The mechanism of the loss of stars by a cluster is simple: for $M \cong 0.2R^2$ (a relation in CGS units that reflects the observed correlation between the radius and mass of star clusters and galaxies [19]), the binding energy of a star cluster is of the order of the binding energy a single solar-mass close binary, with the semimajor axis $a/R_{\odot} \simeq 10^6 (M_{\odot}/M)^{3/2}$, where M is the mass of the cluster. It follows that, for $M < 5 \times 10^3 M_{\odot}$, the binding energy of the cluster as a whole does not exceed the binding energy of a single close binary system whose components are solar-mass main-sequence stars. The low binding energy of star clusters is conducive to their decay in dense galactic nuclei [20], including in collisions with giant molecular clouds in gasrich disk galaxies [21]. But the main mechanism for the destruction of more than 90% of young star clusters is still a significant decrease in the gravitational coupling due to the loss of gas [15].

Flammarion was apparently the first to draw attention to the possible existence of a linear chain of stars, a 'celestial road' in the Pleiades [22]. A similarity between the velocities of stars in Taurus and in the Pleiades was noted in [23]. It was clear from the very beginning that reliable information about the velocities of a large number of stars and determination of their distances from the Sun were needed to reliably identify stellar streams in the Galaxy in the vicinity of the Sun [24]. Jeans [25] found that stars in clusters, under the effect of gravitational interaction with the field stars and with each other, should eventually leave the parent cluster, while preserving its spatial velocity. Indeed, the study of the velocity distribution of bright stars revealed the existence of a number of statistically significant groups of stars with almost identical spatial velocities [26]. Their coordinated motion in space was attributed to the general rotation of stars around the center of the Galaxy [27]. The search for stellar streams intensified in the 1960s as the scales of velocities and distances from stars to the Sun were determined more precisely. Thus, in [28], several stellar streams were discovered in the vicinity of the Sun, and were related to dense groups of young clusters and OB associations.

Physicists have the option to conduct key experiments to study the fundamental aspects of the phenomena and objects under study. Astronomers, for obvious reasons, are deprived of such an opportunity. Experiments are performed by nature, and available to astronomers are the results of observations. Their cognitive efficiency, as evidenced by the experience of recent decades, is especially high in observations of close binary astronomical objects: planets, stars, and galaxies. In the course of interaction with each other, the binary companions expose their properties. This, in particular, has allowed turning close binary stars from an object of study into a very productive tool for studying the physics and evolution of stars from their formation to the appearance of final dense stellar objects: degenerate dwarfs, neutron stars, and black holes.

The study of nearby interacting galaxies has long been a tool for studying the structure, physics, and evolution of galaxies—stellar worlds bound by gravity [29–31]. It was realized in the course of that work that the gravitational interaction of nearby galaxies gives rise to tidal tails and spirals, revitalizes the process of star formation in galaxies, and activates gas accretion onto central supermassive black holes (SMBHs) in galactic nuclei [32].

The tidal tails of interacting galaxies have become another example of stellar streams arising in the course of destruction of the peripheral regions of disk galaxies [33, 34]. Gradually, it became clear that part of the linear structures of galaxies is stellar streams — the remnants of low-density galaxies tidally destroyed by massive galaxies [35]. The study of the dense parts and the galactic halo showed the presence of many stellar streams in it, which are traces of the destruction of nearby satellite galaxies [36]. This phenomenon was recognized as common in the world of galaxies. Traces of star clusters have been found in stellar streams.

1.2 Stellar streams

The existence of the Magellanic Stream, an intergalactic stream that includes the Magellanic Clouds, stars, star clusters, and gas, was noted in [37]. The appearance of this stream is an obvious consequence of the partial tidal destruction of our Galaxy's satellites in the course of their close interaction in the past. Later, it was found that the Pleiades and Hyades, together with field stars, are two streams of different ages located in the plane of our Galaxy [38]. The study of the kinematics of stars in the nuclei of massive E-galaxies has demonstrated the presence of stellar streams. At the same time, low-mass E-galaxies turned out to be homogeneous [39]. This was interpreted as the remaining traces of the 'assembly' of massive E-galaxies that absorb nearby low-mass satellites in the course of evolution. The nearby galaxy M 31 also demonstrated the presence of stellar streams in its halo, including satellites, the dwarf galaxies M32 and NGC205 (Ibata [40]). A detailed study of 33 nearby galaxies revealed stellar streams in them [41], confirming the decisive role of galaxy mergers in the formation of their bulges and halos.

An analysis of the chemical composition of stars in several galactic streams confirmed its similarity to the chemical composition of the dwarf galaxies that are the Galaxy satellites [42]. Importantly, the study of the dynamics of stellar streams in the Galaxy led to the conclusion that the shape of its gravitational potential can be reconstructed based on the study of the shape and kinematics of stellar streams [43]. We note that the analysis of the kinematics and differences in the ages of stellar streams turned out to be an effective tool for studying the increase in the mass of the Galaxy in the course of its evolution [44, 45].

Part of the stellar streams usually attributed to the halos of massive galaxies may be the result of the destruction of galaxies by tides or outbursts of star formation in them. As a result, they eventually make up a 'continuous' stellar medium of clusters of galaxies [46]. The detection of such stellar streams is still complicated by their low surface brightness, but their existence as elements of the stellar environment of clusters is currently beyond doubt.

1.3 Summary

To summarize a brief historical introduction to the shaping of modern ideas on the nature and diversity of astronomical streams of different natures, we can conclude that these streams are a special class of astronomical objects along with planets, stars, galaxies, and clusters of galaxies. These objects differ both in the scenarios of their origin and in the physical content of their evolution. Recent observations and a detailed analysis of large volumes of observational data have allowed identifying and studying some details of the observed streams of various natures. It becomes clear that the appearance of stellar streams is an integral part of the evolutionary process of astronomical systems. Streams of different natures are active participants in the creation of some astronomical objects and the destruction of others, and in the evolution of these objects [47-49]. In particular, the disk components of galaxies are essentially the totality of streams of decayed and decaying star clusters of the disk. Elliptical galaxies and bulges, and spheroidal and circumnuclear components of galaxies are mainly a product of the tidal destruction of satellites of massive galaxies.

2. Formation of astronomical streams

We briefly name the main types of astronomical streams known today, their sources, and possible causes of the destruction of astronomical objects that results in the appearance of such streams. All planetary systems are permeated by meteoroid streams, which are products of the destruction of asteroids and comets. Stars that have planetary systems are armed with ACP 'spears,' whose length is determined by the age of these stars and can reach galactic scales [50]. Here and hereafter, spears are understood as young streams of comets, asteroids lost by planetary systems, and young stellar streams lost by star clusters and galaxies. Their spear-like character results from the angular momentum conservation law in the case where the speed acquired by the elements of the spear when escaping from their parent system is much less than the orbital velocity of the parent system. Star clusters have ACPS spears, i.e., also include stars along with ACP objects. The decay of OB associations leads to the appearance of broad ACPS streams, which also include individual accumulations that have survived after the initial loss of gas. The destruction of satellites of massive galaxies leads to the appearance of stellar streams of galactic proportions. The destruction of galaxies during collisions within clusters of galaxies turns these galaxies into broad stellar streams, which ultimately make up the continuous stellar background of clusters of galaxies.

Let us name the main processes of destruction of astronomical objects and systems. The icy nuclei of comets are destroyed by the evaporation of ice and the ejection of dust and rocks by the pressure of water vapor in hot orbits around their stars. Asteroids are destroyed during their mutual collisions. Massive planets that are distant from their stars accelerate the ACP with their gravity. HII zones destroy most of the young star clusters due to the weakening of the gravitational bound of the entire cluster. In addition, the gravitational interaction of stars within star clusters leads to gradual evaporation of the clusters. Outbursts of star formation and supernova bursts in spheroidal galaxies, leading to a rapid loss of gas by these galaxies, can result in their destruction. Collisions of galaxies and tidal interactions between them can be accompanied by their partial or complete decay [51]. The merger of SMBHs in the nuclei during galaxy mergers can also cause partial or complete destruction of these galaxies [19]. Partial or complete destruction of galaxies leads to the appearance in intergalactic space within galaxy clusters of stellar streams with a length of the order of the size of these clusters.

2.1 Streams of asteroids, comets, and planets

We consider a typical scenario of the emergence and evolution of an astrophysical stream that includes asteroids, cometary nuclei, free comets, and stars (Fig. 1). The initial object is a gas and dust cloud, the progenitor of planetary and stellar systems. The collapse of the gas and dust cloud forms planetary systems, stars, and stellar systems. The concentration of dust in protoplanetary disks leads to the formation of asteroids, comet nuclei, and planets. The destruction of the structure of astronomical objects due to the evaporation of icy nuclei of comets and the destruction of star clusters and galaxies gives rise to ACPS streams, which are linear structures, or 'spears,' of comets, stars, and stellar systems. Given enough time, an ACPS spear develops into a ring around the center of the parent system. These processes are underlain by the angular momentum conservation law. With the spherical symmetry of the initial velocity directions of the bodies leaving the destroyed object, a spherically symmetric 'corona' is created, made of the lost bodies. If, on the other hand, the object is a member of a more massive system, then the angular momentum conservation condition gradually forms elongated structures along its orbit (see Fig. 1).

It is well known that single stars, losing matter at the stage of the asymptotic branch of giants or during supernova explosions, are powerful sources of dust. The speed of the dust particles is then of the order of the speed of the gas. For stars of the asymptotic branch, v = 3-18 km s⁻¹ [52, 53]. Type-SNIb and SNIc supernovae demonstrate the formation and presence of dust in their shells, expanding at a speed of several thousand kilometers per second [54, 55]. Ultrafast dust from supernovae is probably mostly evaporated due to friction with the background gas of the Galaxy, and the dust of the asymptotic-branch stars, patterned on the ACP spears generated by planets, can gradually form dust spears of degenerate dwarfs located along the orbits of parent stars in the Galaxy.

2.2 Stream parameters and their main relations

Gas-dust cloud

Interestingly, the ratio of the length of a developed stream to its width is a measure of its age. For streams with a small

Gravitational collapse,

concentration of dust

eccentricity of the initial orbit, the stream width is $\Delta R = (v/w)R$, where v is the velocity dispersion of the members of the stream, w is the orbital velocity of the object that generated the stream, and R is the radius of an annular stream. The length of the stream is l = vt, where t is the stream age. The ratio of the stream length to its width is $l/\Delta R = wt/R = 2\pi N$, where N is the number of orbital periods during the lifetime of this stream. Of course, the use of such a simple relation to estimate the ages of observed streams is complicated by a number of obvious factors, the main one being the difficulty of determining the position of its boundaries. These are usually 'set' by the actual density of the background on the image of the stream under study, rather than by the rare elements at the stream boundaries.

For numerical estimates of the parameters of the stellar systems studied in this paper, we must discuss the idea of the initial mass spectrum and the correlation of the mass of astronomical objects with their size R. Modern ideas about the initial mass spectrum of astronomical objects result in the conclusion that it can be written in the form [19, 56–58]

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}N}{\mathrm{d}M} \sim \frac{1}{M^2} \,. \tag{1}$$

The physical content of relation (1) is simple and amounts to the absence of a preferred mass scale. The same mass of matter thus corresponds to each interval of the object's mass logarithm. We note that, for solid objects of the same density, the mass spectrum can be written as a size spectrum,

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}N}{\mathrm{d}R} \sim \frac{1}{R^4} \,. \tag{2}$$

Comparisons of relation (1) with estimates of the initial spectra for various objects (dust, asteroids, stars, star clusters, and galaxies and their clusters) showed good agreement. Deviations of the initial mass spectra derived from observations of various objects can be explained by their formation and evolution being nonconservative.

For quantitative estimates of the characteristics of galaxies, star clusters, and clusters of galaxies, we present the observational relation between their mass M and radius R in a form convenient for estimates [19, 58–60]:

$$M = 0.2R^{2}[\text{CGS}] \text{ or } \frac{M}{M_{\odot}} = 10^{3} \left(\frac{R}{\text{pc}}\right)^{2}.$$
 (3)

This reflects the observed relation between mass and radius for most star clusters, galaxies, and galaxy clusters with masses $10^5 \le M/M_{\odot} \le 10^{15}$. A number of galaxies noticeably deviate from the correlation stated in (3), being denser or more rarefied. Such deviations likely result from the

Formation

of a ring stream



Astronomical object

Astronomical object

Dissipation

interaction of galaxies with each other during their approaches.

It follows from Eqn (3) that the specific angular momentum of these systems rotating with the Keplerian velocity is $j \sim M^{3/4}$. The rapid growth of *j* with increasing mass ultimately determines the formation of narrow streams during the decay of cometary nuclei, star clusters in galaxies, and galaxies in their clusters. Equation (3) also implies an estimate of the characteristic Keplerian velocity of star clusters and galaxies,

$$v_{\rm k} = 200 \left(\frac{M}{10^{11} M_{\odot}}\right)^{1/4} \,\,{\rm km}\,{\rm s}^{-1}\,,$$
 (4)

and the orbital period of the stars at the boundaries of these objects or the dynamical time scale of these systems,

$$P_{\rm orb} = 3 \times 10^8 \left(\frac{M}{10^{11} M_{\odot}}\right)^{1/4}$$
 years. (5)

Equation (4) is known to observers as the Tully–Fisher relation [60].

Thus, the general pattern of the emergence of streams of astronomical objects is as follows. Gravity and collisions form compact systems: comet nuclei, asteroids, and planetary and stellar systems of various classes. The decay of these systems into their constituent elements, due to the angular momentum conservation law, leads to the gradual formation of streams of these elements within the parent systems (see Fig. 1). The analytic estimates in (1)–(5) can serve as a convenient tool for quantifying some parameters of such systems.

3. Evolution of comets and asteroids in a planetary system

An asteroid-comet Oort cloud (ACP), approximately $\sim 10^{18}$ cm in size (Fig. 2), is largely formed in a planetary system at the early stages of the formation of distant giant planets. We recall that the ACP Oort cloud is mainly made of stony and icy asteroids, comets, sand, and dust ejected by giant planets into the Hill sphere of the Sun in the early stages of planetary system formation [10, 47, 61]. The presence of dwarf planets in the Oort cloud is also not excluded. We clarify that a comet is typically understood as an icy asteroid in a region close to the Sun, evaporated by solar radiation. The concept of the 'Hill sphere' was introduced by Hill based on the work of Roche. Within the 'Roche lobe,' the gravitational force of an object exceeds that of its satellite in a circular orbit. We use these terms as synonyms in what follows. With the depletion of the ACP material in the inner regions of a planetary system, giant planets change their role from that of the originator of the Oort cloud to its destroyer. They gradually move the ACP objects of the Oort cloud from elliptical orbits to circumsolar hot elliptical orbits or hyperbolic orbits of free ACP objects [47, 61]. As a result, the Oort cloud is depleted over time.

Another possibility of the loss of comets and asteroids by an Oort cloud is related to the planetary systems entering dense (up to 10^{-20} g cm⁻³), extended (~ 10^{21} cm), molecular clouds of disk galaxies. With the average gas density in the Galaxy given by 10^{-24} g cm⁻³, a star spends ~ 10^{-4} of its lifetime inside such a cloud. For the old stars of the galactic disk, this is ~ 10^{6} years. The time to cross giant molecular



Figure 2. Basic properties of planetary systems as a function of the mass of the central star. Notation *a* is the distance from the central star of mass *M*. Shown is the outer boundary of the Oort cloud, mutual approach of stars (boundary of the penetration of field stars into the Oort cloud during the lifetime of the star), Kuiper belt (outer boundary of the planetary part of planetary systems), and inner boundary of the Kuiper belts; T = 1500 K is the dust evaporation boundary, MS is the radius of the star.

clouds (GMCs) at the characteristic speed of stars $v \sim 30 \text{ km s}^{-1}$ is about 10⁷ years. Therefore, we can assume that a solar-mass star during its life entering a molecular cloud is a common event.

The objects in a star's Oort cloud $\sim 10^{18}$ cm in size are gravitationally weakly bound to the parent star, and, for the sizes *r* of these objects

$$r < \frac{\rho v^2 R^2}{GM} \approx 10^3 \text{ cm}, \qquad (6)$$

can be removed from it by the pressure of the oncoming GMC gas. In (6), $\rho \approx 10^{-20}$ g cm⁻³ is the gas density, v is the star velocity across the GMC, $R \approx 10^{18}$ cm is the radius of the Oort cloud, G is the gravity constant, and M is the mass of the star. It is clear that, when a star with an Oort cloud hits a molecular cloud, the outer parts of the Oort cloud lose dust, sand, and pebbles, and the ice evaporates, at least partly. It is easy to imagine that this process results in a star acquiring a dense dust tail extending along its orbit in the GMC, in addition to the ACP spear of this star extending along its orbit in the Galaxy.

Another obvious option of the scattering of ACP Oort cloud objects is due to the regular crossing of the Oort cloud by neighboring stars of the galactic disk. Stars penetrating into the Oort cloud accelerate and expel the ACP objects from it within a cylinder with radius $r \leq GM/vw$, where $M \sim M_{\odot}$ is the characteristic mass of stars in the galactic disk, $v \sim 3 \times 10^6$ cm s⁻¹ is the speed of stars of the galactic disk relative to each other, and $w = \sqrt{GM/R} = 10^4$ cm s⁻¹ is the parabolic velocity of an ACP object at the edge of the Oort cloud. As a result, the ratio of the area covered by background stars with the above radius *r* during the lifetime of an old star, $\sim 10^{10}$ years, to the area of the Oort cloud is

$$\alpha = \frac{GMRNt}{v} \sim 0.3 \,, \tag{7}$$

where $N \sim 10^{-56}$ cm⁻³ is the density of background stars. That is, despite the uncertainty in some parameters involved in (7), a significant part of the Oort cloud ACP objects, formed mainly at the early stages of the formation of a planetary system by giant planets, is lost. Stellar erosion of the Oort clouds constantly replenishes the ACP spears of stars that have planetary systems. It is worth noting that the velocities of the Oort cloud objects at the aphelion are very small, $\sim 10^3$ cm s⁻¹, and hence the radius of the cylinder within which they change noticeably is $r \approx 3 \times 10^{17}$ cm. During the lifetime of the Sun, about 10^3 stars pass within this zone, thus significantly increasing the perihelion distances of the orbits of the Oort cloud objects.

Strömgren [62], having studied the orbits of several circumsolar comets, noted the significant role played by the massive planets, Jupiter and Saturn, in the evolution of the orbits of the Solar System cometary nuclei with time. Oort [63] found that comet nuclei fill the Sun's Roche (Hill) sphere with a radius of $\sim 10^{18}$ cm. The Hill sphere of the Sun with radius $R_{\rm R}$ is the zone of gravitational influence of the Sun in our Galaxy, $R_{\rm R} = 0.4 R (M_{\odot}/M_{\rm G})^{1/3}$, where $M_{\rm G}$ is the mass of the Galaxy and R is the distance from the Sun to the center of the Galaxy. Later, it became clear that, in the process of formation, all planetary systems with massive planets probably fill their Roche lobes with asteroids, comet nuclei, and maybe even low-mass planets [10, 64]. Large and distant planets that satisfy the condition $m/r > M_{\odot}/a$, as shown by detailed modeling, can accelerate small (ACP) bodies by their gravity to parabolic velocities at the level of their orbits; here, m and r are the mass and radius of a large planet and a is the semi-major axis of its orbit around the Sun.

3.1 Origin of interstellar asteroids, comets, and planets

The acceleration of the ACP bodies of planetary systems by giant planets produces ACP Oort clouds of the Sun and other developed planetary systems (see Fig. 2). Importantly, some of the ACP bodies are ejected from their planetary system into the interstellar space of the Galaxy [10]. We discuss their further evolution below. The observed parameters and the number of Oort cloud members remain rather uncertain due to the weakness of the distant members. The eccentricities of their orbits, which are extremely close to unity, and their infrequent and brief stay near the Sun ensure their long lifetime, often exceeding the Hubble time. As a result, by the end of the nuclear evolution of solar-mass central stars, their Oort clouds and Kuiper belts are inherited by degenerate dwarfs. The presence of the ACP material near some of these is reliably detected by the chemical composition of their atmospheres, which is explained by the accretion of dust and asteroids from the Oort cloud and Kuiper belt surrounding these dwarfs. The rate of accretion of solid matter by degenerate dwarfs that have an Oort cloud can be estimated as 10^7-10^{10} g s⁻¹, which is sufficient for the observed metallicity of their atmospheres [65].

The periodic return of the Oort cloud ACP objects to the inner parts of the planetary system and their approach to giant planets significantly change their orbits. Some of the ACP objects—the nuclei of comets and asteroids—occupy 'hot' orbits close to the Sun. This ensures the gradual evaporation of the comet icy nuclei, the release of dust and sand frozen in the ice, and the appearance of a bright tail that attracts universal attention. The comet nucleus eventually evaporates, producing a stream of dust and sand along the orbit of the comet's former nucleus.

Thus, in the course of their formation, giant Jupiter-class planets create a 'bank' of Solar System asteroids and cometary nuclei in the Oort cloud. During the evolution of the Sun and its planetary system, these planets redirect some of its objects to inner hot orbits. Comet nuclei in hot orbits evaporate quickly, and mutual collisions of asteroids simply destroy them into dust and sand, eventually forming a dust (meteoroid) stream near the Sun. An example of an observed comet currently actively interacting with Jupiter is Comet Hale–Bopp [66]. This concludes the brief summary of the history of the emergence of dust streams in the solar and other planetary systems (see Fig. 2).

We note that the giant planets satisfying the criterion

$$\frac{m}{r} > \frac{M}{a} \tag{8}$$

are capable of imparting hyperbolic velocities to ACP objects [10], thus replenishing the population of the field of 'free' ACP members of the Galaxy. Such objects have already been found: asteroids 1I/Oumuamua and 2I/Borisov [67] and five out of the 11 million meteors [68] were recognized as interstellar. However, the frequency of the occurrence of interstellar objects and their spatial density remain unclear, because the existing estimates diverge significantly [69]. The obvious rarity of the detection of such objects is a natural consequence of their low spatial density in the Galaxy.

For stony objects that are far from the Sun and therefore do not evaporate, the mass spectrum is close to the reference one in Eqn (1), both for asteroids about 1 km in size [70, 71] and for stones 10 to 10^5 cm in size [72]. When comparing the observed mass spectrum of evaporating icy nuclei of comets with the initial one, we must recall the obvious reduction in the lifetime of nuclei with a decrease in their size. It is natural to take the lifetime of evaporated cometary nuclei proportional to their size. The observed mass spectrum based on Eqn (2) is then given by $dN/dR \sim 1/R^3$ or $dN/dM \sim M^{-5/3}$. The observed mass spectrum of comets crossing Earth's orbit turns out to be quite close to that estimate: $dN/dM \sim M^{-1.9}$ [73]. For comet nuclei greater than 1 km in size, we have $dN/dM \sim M^{-1.67}$ [74], which practically coincides with the above theoretical mass spectrum of objects evaporated by the Sun. A study of the mass spectrum of sand and stones with a size of 1 cm released during the evaporation of cometary nuclei showed that it can be written in the form $dN/dM \sim M^{-1.8}$ [75]. Thus, most recent information on the observed mass spectrum of comet nuclei demonstrates, after taking their evaporation into account, an almost complete agreement with the predictions based on Eqn (1).

We conclude that, in the presence of massive and sufficiently distant planets, the evolution of planetary systems leads to the formation of Oort clouds within the Roche lobes of the parent stars. The Oort clouds serve as a storage bank for asteroids and comet nuclei for delivery to the inner regions of planetary systems, where icy comet nuclei evaporate and asteroids can collide. These phenomena are the cause of the occurrence of streams of meteor particles in planetary systems. It has now become clear that the multiplicity of stars does not forbid the formation of planetary systems orbiting either a component of the stellar system or the system as a whole. The presence of a stellar companion in this case limits the size of the Kuiper belt and Oort cloud of the companions to their Roche lobes. In a binary system, the size of the Oort cloud of the system as a whole remains limited by the size of the Roche lobe of the system in the field of the galactic gravitational potential.

4. Formation and evolution of a dust spear of comets and asteroids

Evaporation of the icy nucleus of a comet releases its solid component: dust, sand, and stones. This component is abundant: its mass can be several times greater than the mass of ice in cometary nuclei [76]. Over time, it extends along the comet's orbit into a narrow cloud, resembling a spear in outline. Infrared observations aboard the Spitzer spacecraft allowed detecting such symmetric dust spears in 27 out of 34 observed cometary nuclei [76]. They are always located along the orbits of their comets and have been traced to distances up to 10^6 km from the nucleus. It is obvious that the detected dust spears are only the central, densest parts of the dust streams accompanying the comet nucleus on its path around the Sun. Naturally, the evaporation of nuclei and the removal of the dust component are most effective at the perihelia of cometary orbits. The end product of the evolution of a cometary nucleus is the formation of a dust stream along the initial orbit of the cometary nucleus, as was proposed back in 1867 by Schiaparelli [5]. Modern numerical simulations fully confirm this scenario [47].

We now consider the acceleration of dust grains from a comet nucleus undergoing evaporation. Water evaporation under the action of solar radiation leads to the appearance of a gaseous wind near the comet nucleus, having a speed $\sim 30T^{1/2}$ m s⁻¹, where T[K] is the surface temperature of the nucleus. The gaseous wind interacts with the solar wind. Comparing the momentum fluxes of the cometary wind with the solar one shows that the size of the comet's coma (the influence zone of its wind) is almost 6000 times greater than the size of the ice nucleus [47]. This result is almost independent of the distance between the comet and the Sun, which is confirmed by observations. The wind of the evaporated nucleus accelerates the released dust component to a speed that naturally depends on the size of the dust grains. The existing estimates of this speed vary from a few meters per second [77] to one hundred meters per second [78, 79]. Of importance for us now is that the ratio of the orbital velocity of the comet's nucleus to the velocity of the gas lost during ice evaporation reaches a value of the order of 100. This predetermines the observed width of the dust spear, which is actually defined by the ratio of the velocities [80]. Interestingly, the duration of meteor showers observed on Earth is determined by the width of the dust spear or, ultimately, also by the ratio of these velocities.

The lifetime τ_c of comet nuclei in 'hot' circumsolar orbits can be estimated by assuming that the evaporation of one water molecule requires an energy of about 1 erg, whence $\tau_c \approx 300(a/AU)^2 d/km$ years, where *a* is the distance from the comet to the Sun at the perihelion and *d* is the diameter of the comet's icy nucleus. Obviously, with a nucleus size of several kilometers and distance from the Sun at the perihelion of about 1 AU, the lifetime of the nucleus does not exceed several thousand years. That is, the life of a circumsolar comet in the bright phase is much shorter than the life of its successor, a dust spear that develops over time into a closed dust stream around the Sun.

Several extended asteroid-dust spears of near-solar comets were recently found under the name of 'dust jets' [81, 82]. Due to the evaporation of the icy nuclei of comets, their lifetime in hot orbits is bounded by several ten to several hundred orbital periods [83]. An example of a 'depleted' nucleus is that of the old comet of the Jupiter family, 209P/LINEAR [84]. Radar observations revealed the dust tail of this comet. Another example of meteor accompaniment is demonstrated by Comet 96P/Machholz [85]. It is now clear that all observed meteor showers in the Solar System are the dusty remnants of comets. Asteroids and dust leaving a comet nucleus at a speed $\sim 10^4$ cm s⁻¹ [86] fill the orbit of a Jupiter-family comet in several hundred to several thousand years, turning it into a meteor shower. An analysis of the orbits of about 10⁷ meteors before their collision with Earth's atmosphere have allowed identifying eight meteor showers with apogees close to the orbit of Jupiter [87]. This confirms the genetic connection of these dust streams with comets and demonstrates the organizing role of Jupiter, which redirects comet nuclei from the Oort cloud to hot orbits (Fig. 3).

4.1 Meteor spears

The current list of circumsolar meteor showers crossing Earth's orbit contains 17 members [84]. They comprise up to half of all near-solar meteoroids, preserving the orbits of recently evaporated cometary nuclei and products of high-velocity collisions of asteroids of comparable sizes. Such asteroids, having no signatures of bright cometary tails, usually remain undetected before the collision. An example of a registered direct collision of asteroids is the 596 Scheide flare ~ 50 km in size [88]. In 2010, a flare occurred, accompanied for several days by a dust tail with an estimated dust mass of $\sim 10^{10}$ g. Such a tail is a product of a partial destruction of asteroids that have undergone a collision. Observed meteor showers are usually inhomogeneous, which may be a consequence of the inhomogeneity of comet and asteroid nuclei [89].

The velocities relative to Earth have been found for 11 streams crossing Earth's orbit and moving around the Sun in almost circular orbits [90]. They are within 12-72 km s⁻¹. These bounds are easy to understand if we take into account that the parabolic speed at the level of Earth's orbit is $\sim 42 \text{ km s}^{-1}$, and the circular speed is $\sim 30 \text{ km s}^{-1}$. Therefore, the speed of the oncoming stream should be 72 km s⁻¹, and that of the passing one, \sim 12 km s⁻¹, which is indeed observed. The average speed of meteor streams relative to Earth is ~ 47 km s⁻¹, which indicates a nearly random orientation of their circumsolar orbits. Interestingly, the average speed of meteors not organized into streams is only ~ 20 km s⁻¹. This means that the collisional evolution of dust streams and the interaction of dust with the gravitational field of the planets gradually changes their rotation around the Sun to a motion close to the orbital rotation of the planetary system. Indeed, the Sun's zodiacal light exhibits a markedly flattened structure in the orbital plane of the Sun's planetary system.

We see in what follows that all planetary systems of the Galaxy have cometary spears that include dust in their composition. The Sun, in the course of its motion, crosses these spears, occasionally finding itself inside streams of organized motion of interstellar dust. As a result, the problem arises of searching for a connection between interstellar meteors and the stars close to the Sun that generate them. That is, in the field of meteors recorded on



Figure 3. Result of modeling the history of the formation of a comet dust spear around the Sun with a perihelion velocity of 39.9 km s⁻¹. At each integration step, dust evaporates toward the Sun with a speed of the dust particles equal to 126 m s⁻¹. Size of the black dots representing dust clouds is proportional to the number of dust particles ejected at each step. Red dot indicates the comet residual nucleus, which is proportional to $\sim r^{-2}$, where *r* is the distance from the comet to the Sun. Picture is shown as it develops over time. Integration time and the number of dust grains are labeled in the upper-left corner of each panel.

Earth, we should look for their correlated, statistically significant streams and then attempt to identify the directions of such streams with the vectors of spatial velocities of stars close to the Sun. Proximity to the Sun may in this case condition the high density of the star's cometary spear.

For an asteroid, collisions with other asteroids of a smaller mass play the role of a dust generator in the course of its motion in an orbit around the Sun. The mass spectrum of asteroids is reliably represented by Eqn (1), whence it is clear that circumsolar sand and dust are the main erosive agent for asteroids. This makes the evaporation of the comet's icy nucleus and the collision of large asteroids with sand and dust effective in generating dust spears of comets and asteroids. Collisions of large asteroids of comparable masses are relatively rare events according to Eqn (1), but are not excluded either, and we therefore also consider the instantaneous destruction of an asteroid in a collision. Evaporation of the ice part of cometary nuclei has been the subject of many studies [91, 92]. As a result of the evaporation of the nucleus of a comet, dust and sand appear with the mass spectrum given by Eqn (1).

To study the evolution of the orbits of sand lost by a cometary nucleus on a short time scale, we used the REBOUND program [93], which takes only the gravity of the Sun into account. We studied two scenarios. In the first, sand was removed from the comet's nucleus at a speed of $\sim 10^4$ cm s⁻¹ and a rate inversely proportional to the squared distance to the Sun, into the hemisphere facing the Sun (see Fig. 3). In the second scenario, an instantaneous spherically symmetric decay of asteroids was assumed under the effect of their direct collision with each other (Fig. 4). In the course of several hundred years, the products of evaporation of ice nuclei and collisional destruction of asteroids are distributed along the initial elliptical orbits of the parent bodies, forming meteor showers of dust and sand.

Figures 3 and 4 demonstrate the evolution of a comet or asteroid dust spear over time and its transformation into a meteor shower orbiting the Sun. The shape of the streams is determined by the initial orbit of the destroyed object. The difference between the streams generated by comets and asteroids can only be sought in the chemical composition of their matter, because asteroids and cometary nuclei are probably formed at different distances from the Sun and in different epochs of the Solar System's evolution. The destruction of the nuclei of comets and colliding circumsolar asteroids thus results in the formation of relatively narrow streams of dust and sand in the vicinity of the Sun and other stars with planetary systems. The intersection of these streams



Figure 4. Evolution of a dust stream during an instantaneous decay of the nucleus of a comet or an asteroid at the moment of passing the perihelion as a result of a collision with another asteroid. Debris particles resulting from the collision scatter symmetrically in all directions over the sphere. Departure speed is $\sim 2 \text{ km s}^{-1}$. Red dot is the residual nucleus of the comet. Black dots are the positions of dust particles in the stream. In 150 years, dust clouds have time to distribute evenly along the comet's orbit. Initial speed of the comet nucleus is 39.9 km s⁻¹.

with Earth's orbit around the Sun and the entry of dust and sand into Earth's atmosphere are associated with an increase in meteor activity.

A question arises about the future fate of the dust, sand, and cometary parts of these streams. Dust within the zone of influence of the solar wind is under the effect of this wind and solar radiation. The size R_w of the solar wind zone of influence is estimated from the condition of the equality of the wind momentum flux and the gas momentum flux of the interstellar medium,

$$R_{\rm w} = \left(\frac{\dot{M}W}{4\pi\rho v^2}\right)^{1/2}$$

where $\dot{M} \approx 10^{12}$ g s⁻¹ is the rate of loss of matter via solar wind, *W* is the wind speed, ρ is the density of the medium, and

v is the speed of the Sun relative to the gaseous medium. Estimates show that, for $v = 3 \times 10^6$ cm s⁻¹ and $\dot{M} = 10^{12}$ g s⁻¹, we have $R_{\rm w} \approx 10^{15} n_{\rm H}^{-1/2}$ cm, where $n_{\rm H}$ is the gas density of the medium in units of the number of hydrogen atoms per cubic centimeter. Estimates show that, even in the zone of influence of the solar wind, radiation affects the motion of dust grains more strongly than the solar wind does. Dust particles smaller than $\sim 3 \times 10^{-5}$ cm are immediately removed from the Solar System. The light pressure on them exceeds the solar gravity.

Let us consider the evolution of the components of a stream over time. Dust particles and sand with sizes smaller than $0.1(AU/R)^2 t/(10^6 \text{ years})$ cm are decelerated due to the Poynting-Robertson effect and gradually spiral towards the Sun. Here, R is the distance from a dust grain to the Sun and t is the dust grain lifetime. This effect results in the concentration of dust near the Sun, which explains the appearance of the zodiacal light of the Sun and, probably, of all other stars with planetary systems. Indeed, approximately 20% of all stars show signatures of warm zodiacal dust near them [94]. We note that the detectable fraction of stars with zodiacal dust is comparable to the fraction of stars with planetary systems. The dust of the zodiacal wind, approaching the Sun at a distance of about 10¹² cm, evaporates and is removed from the Solar System with the solar wind. Large objects of the stream can be destroyed as a result of direct collisions in circumsolar space, absorbed or scattered by large planets (see Fig. 2). Such is the fate of circumstellar streams of dust, sand, and rocks produced due to the evaporation of icy nuclei of comets and the collisional destruction of asteroids.

When considering the fate of dust streams, it should be borne in mind that, for young solar-mass stars and for stars of lower mass, the role of wind in the evolution of zodiacal dust can exceed the role of radiation. For example, a study of the dust environment of an M dwarf revealed that the intensity of its stellar wind exceeds that of the solar wind by almost a thousand times [95], which makes such a wind the leading factor in the evolution of the dust environment of young lowmass stars.

Importantly, with the end of the evolution of the central star and its transformation into a degenerate dwarf, the evolution of the star's planetary system does not end. Giant planets with a semi-major axis greater than several astronomical units, the Kuiper belt, and the Oort cloud persist even after the formation of a degenerate remnant of the central star with an initial mass in the range of $0.8M_{\odot}$ – $8M_{\odot}$ (see Fig. 2). For example, in the region of Pluto's orbit in the Solar System, the formation of new planets will continue due to the accumulation of asteroid-comet matter. Field stars crossing the Oort cloud of a degenerate dwarf enrich the ACP population of its ACP spear. Giant planets that have survived the supergiant stage of their star will continue to transfer ACP objects of the Oort cloud into orbits close to a degenerate dwarf (see Fig. 2). Naturally, some of these objects will fall on the degenerate dwarf, enriching the chemistry of its atmosphere [96, 97]. Indeed, about a quarter of white dwarfs, which is close to the fraction of stars that have planets, exhibit excessive metallicity of their atmospheres. This means that the end of the evolution of the central star does not terminate the evolution of its planetary system [96, 98].

4.2 Results

Summarizing the description of the evolution of circumstellar ACP material, we conclude that its evolution is an important

and by now reliably established part of the evolution of all planetary systems (see Fig. 2). The Oort Cloud, created by distant giant planets, serves as a 'bank' of ACP objects, supplying ACP regions to 'hot' orbits in the inner part of planetary systems, again with the help of the giant planets. At the same time, distant giant planets continue to replenish the star's comet spear. The evaporation of icy nuclei of comets and collisional evolution of asteroids support the constant renewal of the dusty component of the zodiacal starlight.

It is possible, for example, that comets are the main suppliers of water to the inner 'hot' terrestrial planets, probably formed from the original dehydrated solid material. Thus, it is not ruled out that the evolution of Oort cloud comets considered in this section, driven by Jupiter, is an important part of the evolution of Earth's water envelope, whose presence is an inalienable part of the process of the emergence and development of life on Earth. Terrestrial planets near solar-mass stars probably arise from dehydrated minerals. The icy shells of dust particles in this 'hot' region are evaporated, and steam is removed from the circumsolar space by the stellar wind inherent in these stars. Such a wind is especially intense at the early stages of the evolution of solartype stars. The inner terrestrial planets, being potential carriers of life, are watered by distant and cold giant planets, which store water in the form of icy nuclei of comets in the Oort clouds of their stars. The same giant planets, supplying part of the comets to the inner 'hot' zone of the star, constantly enrich the shells of 'hot' planets with water. Dwarf planets either have too low a mass, like Mars, or are too 'hot,' like Mercury, and hence are probably unable to hold the water supplied to their shells by comets, remaining largely dehydrated. Earth turned out to be able to retain water due to its parameters and the parameters of its orbit around the Sun, which eventually turned it into a cradle of life. Thus, it is possible that Jupiter is an active and major participant in the process of the emergence of life on Earth.

5. ACP and streams of stars and star clusters

5.1 ACP spears of stars

The history of the study of star clusters is an essential part of the history of astronomy itself. The Greek astronomer Ptolemy in the Almagest, in the 2nd century AD, mentioned the first star clusters as nebulae. The introduction of the telescope into astronomical practice by Galileo allowed Messier [99] and Herschel [100] to compile the first catalogs of star clusters. Interestingly, already at the end of the 19th century, it was clear that star clusters would probably disintegrate with time, turning into stellar streams [101]. The study of star clusters of different ages played a decisive role in the development of modern ideas about the evolution of stars [102, 103]. Chandrasekhar [104] found that star clusters are unstable, and their stars evaporate over time, i.e., leave their parent clusters. The history of the question of the origin and evolution of star clusters as members of associations of young stars several hundred parsecs in size is interesting. The introduction of the concept of gravitational instability of cold gas clouds [105] allowed introducing the concept of OB associations as a result of the collapse of gas clouds about the thickness of the Galaxy in size [106].

Cluster stars, like field stars, have planetary systems which, as we see below, produce interstellar ACP objects, which create a relatively dense ACP environment of the cluster. We therefore consider some features of the evolution of planetary systems of star clusters. At least 30% of cluster stars with masses of the order of the solar mass are born surrounded by protoplanetary disks [107]. The size of these disks is ~ 100 AU and the mass is $10^{-3}-10^{-2}M_{\odot}$ [108–110]. The final distribution of the Solar System planets over the semi-major axis of their almost circular orbits is described by a logarithmic law, known as the Titius–Bode law [8, 108–110]:

$$\mathrm{d}N \approx 3\mathrm{d}\left(\log a\right).\tag{9}$$

This distribution guarantees the stability of planetary orbits with a mass of the order of the Jupiter mass, placing neighboring planets outside their Roche lobes. The powerlaw nature of the Titius–Bode law implies Eqn (3).

The protoplanetary disk and its ACP objects are located in the gravitational potential well of the central star. Estimates and numerical modeling [10] show that the situation changes with the appearance of massive Jupiter-type giant planets far from their stars. Gravitational interaction of ACP objects with the potential of the Jupiter+Sun system is capable of accelerating ACP objects to hyperbolic velocities of the order of 1 km s⁻¹ at infinity [111]. The corresponding condition is given in Eqn (8). In the Solar System, along with Jupiter, the role of an accelerator is claimed by Saturn, Neptune, and Uranus. The ACP objects ejected from their parent planetary systems, due to the comparative smallness of the initial velocity 'push' compared to the orbital velocity of the star in the Galaxy, first form a relatively short ACP stream extending along the star's orbit in the cluster and symmetric with respect to the star; it is called the cometary spear [50]. Some of the ACP objects leaving the parent planetary systems also leave the parent open low-mass star clusters. The escape velocities from these clusters are small, not exceeding several kilometers per second. The stellar part of the streams generated by clusters has long been known. Flammarion, according to Holmes (1894), was the first to pay attention to the linear structure of the stars near the Pleiades, calling it a 'stellar road.' Holmes himself calls such structures 'stellar streams,' thereby introducing the modern term.

The velocities of ACP objects lost by planetary systems $(0-3 \text{ km s}^{-1})$ [10] are small compared to the orbital velocities of stars in the Galaxy, ~ 250 km s⁻¹. This determines the width of the ACP streams of stars and clusters in the Galaxy, ~ 50 pc. Interest in interstellar ACP streams is stimulated and supported by the discovery of their two representatives, extrasolar asteroids 1I/Oumuamua and 2I/Borisov [112, 113]. Microlensing allows detecting interstellar planets lost by parent stars [114]. This puts the question of free ACP objects on a solid observational basis. Interestingly, some of the meteorites of terrestrial collections once belonged to other stars. The task is to identify them.

5.2 Sources of replenishment of stellar ACP spears of stars

The ACP spears of stars are replenished due to two main sources. The first, as mentioned above, is the acceleration of ACP objects of stars by giant planets with masses and semimajor axes that satisfy condition (5). The second source is the acceleration of the Oort cloud objects by the field stars of the Galaxy and the stars of their star cluster that penetrate the Oort clouds in the course of evolution. An estimate shows that, during the Sun's lifetime, about 10⁴ field stars penetrate into the Sun's Oort cloud, eventually enriching the population of the Sun's ACP spear and, probably, considerably impoverishing the population of the Oort cloud [46]. We note that the number of ACP objects currently inhabiting the Oort cloud remains unknown. A conservative estimate of the number of comets in the Oort cloud is $\sim 10^{12}$ objects [115]. The characteristic velocity of ACP objects at the outer edge of the Oort cloud is several meters per second. Knowing that a star with a planetary system is armed with an ACP spear, we can wonder about searching for them and detecting their meteor showers. The circumstellar part of the ACP spear looks like two oppositely directed jets ~ 30 pc wide. The spear is directed along the orbital motion of the star. Consequently, the Sun, moving in the Galaxy, falls into the spears of neighboring stars. The proximity of a star to the Sun is one of the conditions for the relatively high spatial density of ACP objects of that star. An example of a list of stars that crossed the Oort cloud less than 1 million years ago is given in [50]. It is possible that some of these stars also have ACP spears.

5.3 Interstellar ACP spears

The understanding that planetary systems can extend to interstellar (Oort cloud) scales led to formulating the problem of searching for representatives of the ACP structures of other stars. Such objects were found both among objects with hyperbolic velocities (asteroids 1I/Oumuamua and 2I/Borisov) and among circumsolar objects possibly captured from the interstellar medium by the Sun + Jupiter system [116]. While interstellar dust grains are sought among meteor showers in circumsolar space, the interstellar planets of other galaxies are sought by the microlensing method [114]. The high prevalence of planetary systems losing ACP objects and the interaction of field stars with the ACP Oort clouds of planetary systems [117] make the interstellar ACP component of the Galaxy abundant, and elucidation of its main parameters is a matter for the near future. True, the hope of finding stars that were born in the same cluster and OB association as the Sun [118] seems so far unpromising, because the stellar spear of the Sun's parent cluster, which includes several hundred stars, now occupies the volume of $\sim 10^8$ pc³, as shown above. In astronomy, OB associations are usually understood as gravitationally unbound groups of young ($\leq 10^7$ years) stars with a size of the order of the thickness of the galactic gaseous disk, ~ 100 pc.

Observed star clusters decay over time, losing their components: asteroids, comets, planets, and stars, which form ACPS spears of clusters (Fig. 5). We consider the conditions for the formation and destruction of ACPS spears of star clusters and OB associations. The velocities of 'free' ACP objects leaving the Solar System and accelerated by Jupiter are ~ 1.0 km s⁻¹ [10]. Such velocities are sufficient for accelerated ACP objects to escape not only from native planetary systems but also from open star clusters with masses less than $10^3 M_{\odot}$ if these stars are their constituents (Eqn (3)). As a result, star clusters form their ACP spears over time. The population of ACP spears of clusters is continuously replenished by stars that leave the cluster as a result of the gravitational interaction of stars in the cluster with each other [14]. With time, such a spear turns into an ACPS stream on a galactic scale, which persists for a long time even after the evaporation of the star cluster, with a characteristic lifetime of about 10⁸ years [119, 120].

5.4 Decay of star clusters

It has long been clear that most open clusters are destroyed during the initial star formation outburst after the quick loss



Figure 5. Evolution of a cloud of stellar spears representing cluster stars (light blue stream, top panels) and OB associations (blue dots, bottom panels).

of the gaseous component ionized by the young massive stars of these clusters [15]. This allows reliably drawing a borderline between masses of star clusters, which are stellar systems with a single episode of star formation, and galaxies, with their potential for repeated or quasistationary star formation. The rate of expansion of the ionized gas is $\sim 10 \text{ km s}^{-1}$, and the Keplerian velocity of galaxies and star clusters is determined by Eqn (4). Comparing the latter rate with the rate of removal of ionized hydrogen, we find that the gas of stellar objects with a mass less than $\sim 1.6 \times 10^5 M_{\odot}$ can be removed from them via hydrogen ionization by their massive stars. Consequently, such stellar systems can be called star clusters with a single star formation episode. More massive stellar systems retain their gaseous component during star formation, which allows star formation to be prolonged, depending on ionization and supernovae in the galaxy [121]. This simple estimate of the borderline mass between clusters and galaxies practically coincides with the estimate following from observations [122]. Indeed, the most massive globular clusters ($M \ge 10^5 M_{\odot}$) show the presence of stars belonging to several generations [123].

Obviously, some of the young stars in our Galaxy are now in star clusters. If we assume that about 10% of the stars in open star clusters with masses of $\sim 10^3 M_{\odot}$ remain gravitationally bound after they lose the gaseous component at the time of their formation [15] and that the average lifetime of such clusters is $\sim 10^8$ years [124], then the total mass of stars in open clusters is about 10^{-3} of the mass of stars in the Galaxy. The characteristic velocities of stars in open star clusters (Eqn (4)) are of the order of 1 km s⁻¹. These velocities almost coincide with those of ACP objects accelerated by giant planets, as was discussed in Section 3. Thus, in a million years, giant planets forming stellar spears of their stars fill the volume of the cluster with ACP material. A continuous ACP medium is thus produced, which is still an invisible component of the cluster. In addition, it is clear that some of the fast ACP objects leaving their stars also leave their cluster, thus forming the cluster's ACP spear. It is clear that, in the course of their motion, the cluster stars continuously accelerate the ACP objects of the cluster's interstellar medium and the ACP objects of the cluster stars to velocities sufficient to leave this cluster. This is the second mechanism of feeding the cluster's ACPS spear. The cluster's ACPS spear is again, like a stellar ACP spear, formed due to the angular momentum conservation law (see Fig. 5).

The spatial speed of a cluster during its rotation around the center of the Galaxy is ~ 240 km s⁻¹, and the speed of the departing ACP objects of the cluster stars and the departing stars of the cluster themselves is about 1 km s⁻¹. This determines the final width of the ACPS spear of the cluster in the Galaxy to be ~ 60 pc. It hence follows that, as a result of the acceleration of ACP objects by giant planets and cluster stars, all star clusters are 'armed' with ACPS spears. Due to the relatively short characteristic lifetime of open clusters, $\sim 10^8$ years, the characteristic spear length of a mature cluster should be ~ 100 pc. The stellar components of these spears have already been found for three star clusters that are 10^8 years old. Among them is the Pleiades cluster. There is no doubt that the stellar spears found in these clusters also contain an ACP component. The final result of the evolution of a star cluster is the complete decay of the stellar component and the transformation of the cluster into an ACPS stream

(see Fig. 5). Such streams are an essential part of the stellar component of the disk of our Galaxy and other disk galaxies. We recall that most clusters decay at the moment of formation due to loss of the gaseous component [15]. That is, in this case, the decay of the cluster at its birth leads to the appearance of a stellar spear in it and then to its transformation into an ACPS stream. The ACP component of these streams is formed after the formation of sufficiently distant massive planets of the stellar stream of cluster stars. Therefore, the formation of an ACPS spear of a cluster is a more frequent phenomenon than the formation of gravitationally bound star clusters themselves. Because almost all stars are born in clusters, the disk component of galaxies may eventually be the sum of ACPS spears of decayed star clusters.

Star formation in disk galaxies goes as follows. The gaseous disk of galaxies is inhomogeneous; it includes giant molecular clouds with sizes of the order of the disk thickness, 100-200 pc. The mass of gas clouds grows with time and, upon reaching a critical value, their collapse begins. In spiral galaxies, the collapse is usually triggered by a spiral shock wave caused either by gravitational interaction with nearby galaxies or, possibly, by the interaction of the gaseous disk with the eccentric gravitational potential of the galaxy's dark halo [125]. The collapse of molecular clouds of galaxies that do not have a dark halo begins when they reach the Jeans mass limit. With the beginning of the collapse in giant molecular clouds with a mass of $10^5 - 10^6 M_{\odot}$, the inherent inhomogeneities with the mass spectrum in Eqn (1) divide these clouds into gaseous protoclusters with masses of several hundred thousand solar masses. The collapse of these giant gas clouds creates the observed pattern of OB associations, in which a practically continuous stellar field 100–200 pc in size is the product of the decay of young star clusters under the effect of the loss of gas. Only several percent of all the resulting star clusters in the indicated field of 100-200 pc remain gravitationally bound. The velocity dispersion of stars of OB associations is ~ 10 km s⁻¹ (see Eqn (4)). In the absence of gravitational closure of the OB association stars, the tidal force from the Galaxy turns it over time into a stellar stream ~ 200 pc wide and $\sim t/10^6$ years long. That is, in $\sim 10^8$ years, the OB association takes the characteristic shape of a stellar spear with several gravitationally bound star clusters remaining in it (see Fig. 5). The length of the spear increases with time, and the ACPS stream becomes almost annular in the Hubble time. This broad stream consists of narrower ACPS streams that decayed during the evolution of the OB association of star clusters. This is the ultimate structure of the stellar disk of all disk galaxies.

Note that the binarity of star clusters is very low for two obvious reasons. The absence of a close binary, a product of the collapse of a molecular cloud, is a consequence of the fact that the size of the cloud is practically equal to the cluster size (see Eqn (2)). And there is no wide double of gravitationally bound clusters, because the Roche lobes of clusters exceed the size of the clusters themselves by only a few times, and most clusters are destroyed at birth, having lost the gaseous component [15].

5.5 ACP spears of star clusters

In recent years, work has intensified on the search for stellar spears of star clusters; stellar spears, usually called tidal tails, have been found in many nearby clusters [126]. A stellar spear almost 1000 pc long was found near the globular cluster ω Cen [127]. With the observed relative velocities of the spear

stars within 10 km s⁻¹, the age of the observed part of the spear is less than ~ 10⁸ years. The total mass of the ω Cen spear is about 10% of the cluster mass [127]. Stellar streams often include several clusters in close orbits, and this probably indicates that such streams are created by OB associations [128]. Some of the observed streams even contain globular clusters [129, 130]. This means that the source of the stream may be not only the globular cluster itself but also, possibly, a low-mass galaxy destroyed by the tidal effect of the Galaxy, which had included these clusters in its composition. Naturally, the stellar stream component is only a part of the ACPS spear.

Recent work demonstrates the wide distribution of discovered stellar spears of open and globular star clusters. Studying the structure of 389 nearby open clusters in our Galaxy allowed establishing the presence of stellar spears in 71 of them [131]. The authors traditionally call them tidal tails, although their nature is different. This means that open star clusters are much larger than is commonly believed. An extensive study of globular clusters in the neutral regions of the Galaxy [131] has demonstrated the presence of stellar spears of about a dozen globular clusters. It should be recognized that only the inner, densest parts of the most massive star clusters are presently accessible to observational detection. But stellar spears and stellar streams accompany almost all star clusters that lose their stars over time due to internal causes.

Under the gradual formation of stellar spears of longlived star clusters, low-mass stars are the first to leave clusters. Massive stars escape the cluster later. As a result, there is a mass gradient of stars along the spear. Such a gradient was found using the numerical model of N gravitating point masses. The decay of star clusters and OB associations results in well-defined stellar streams of various lengths in the solar neighborhood [132-134]. Some of the studied streams demonstrate their kinematical similarity with known star clusters [135]. To summarize the presented brief description of the pattern of destruction of open clusters and OB associations with time, we can conclude that such processes first lead to the inevitable appearance of ACPS spears of these objects. The end product of the decay is an ACPS stream of galactic proportions, with the width determined by the ratio of the Keplerian velocities of the destroyed object and the Galaxy.

6. Formation of stellar streams during the destruction of galaxies

The structure of the Universe is such that most of its visible matter is concentrated in galaxies that form galaxy clusters. Galaxies are divided into disk ones, rich in gas and young stars (S), irregular (Irr), almost gas-free elliptical (E), and spheroidal (S0). A detailed study of the properties of galaxies leads to the conclusion that almost all galaxies have spheroidal and disk components, respectively represented by bulges for disk galaxies and compact nuclear star-forming gas disks for E-galaxies. The relative fraction of the bulge mass increases with the mass of the galaxy [136]. The central most massive galaxies in clusters (cD) are ellipsoidal, which emphasizes the role of collisions and mergers of galaxies in the formation of cD and E galaxies, as well as of the bulges of disk galaxies [137, 138]. The high abundance of E-galaxies and bulge disk galaxies is a probable consequence of the high density of galaxies in clusters and collisions between galaxies.

In the first approximation, the gaseous disk of a galaxy can be represented by a disk with radius R and thickness H. Interestingly, H and R can be related by a simple formula within the diffusion model of the expansion of the gaseous disk of a galaxy during its evolution. The expansion time of a gaseous disk is $T_d = R^3/(H^2v_k) = T_H$, where T_H is the Hubble time and v_k is the Keplerian velocity at the edge of the disk (see Eqn (4)). This equation implies that

$$\frac{H}{R} = 0.045 \left(\frac{M}{10^{11} M_{\odot}}\right)^{1/8}.$$
(10)

In deriving relation (10), we assumed that diffusion occurs due to the turbulence of the gas disk with a scale of the order of its thickness and the velocity of the turbulence elements of the order of the orbital velocity times the ratio of the gas disk thickness to its size. The observed thickness of the thick gaseous disk of our Galaxy at R > 8 kpc is about 400 pc, or $H/R \approx 0.05$ [139], which is close to the above estimate. Thus, the initial dimensions of a disk galaxy are probably set by the initial angular momentum of the gas associated with the mass of this galaxy [19]. This estimate is valid for stationary disks of galaxies. The thickness of the gaseous disk, which is controlled by supernova formation in it [140], cannot significantly exceed the above estimate.

Let us consider some features of the evolution of galaxies in their clusters. The sizes of galaxies and their clusters are correlated with their masses, as indicated in Section 2.2 (see Eqn (3)). This allows estimating the average time T_{coll} between collisions of galaxies with each other in a common cluster. We find that $T_{coll} \approx 10^9 (M/10^{15} M_{\odot})^{1/4}$ years. This means that, during the cluster lifetime, which is close to the Hubble time, an ordinary galaxy undergoes about ten collisions. The comparability of the sizes of galaxies and their clusters makes the collisional evolution of galaxies saturated. This significantly enriches the evolution of galaxies, leading to a number of interesting phenomena and leaving the participants in direct collisions with a number of morphological consequences. It is interesting that direct collisions are not necessary to accelerate the star formation process; tidal influence during their close passage is sufficient.

The approach of galaxies can then lead to the destruction of the smaller-mass galaxy. We consider the conditions necessary for the beginning of tidal destruction of a galaxy of small mass *m* in the gravitational field of a more massive galaxy with mass M_0 . For the massive galaxy, we assume a constant rotation speed independent of the distance to its center *R*, which fixes the relation of the mass and tidal density to the distance *R*. By the tidal density, we mean the ratio of the mass M(R) to the cubed distance to the center. We assume that the radius *r* of the smaller-mass galaxy is equal to Kr_0 , where $r_0 \approx 2m^{1/2}$ (see Eqn (3)). A simple estimate shows that the average density of the smaller galaxy becomes equal to the local tidal density of the massive galaxy for

$$K \geqslant \alpha \left(\frac{M_0}{m}\right)^{1/6},\tag{11}$$

where $\alpha = R/R_0$ and R_0 is the radius of the massive galaxy. It is clear from the last relation that galaxies with a low surface density (K > 1) can start being destroyed by tides even before reaching the outer boundary of a massive satellite. For the destruction of ordinary-density galaxies (K = 1), a small galaxy must plunge into the larger galaxy by a distance $R = (m/M_0)^{1/6}$. The immersion of low-mass galaxies into the dense nucleus of a massive galaxy is necessary for their destruction, because the average density of galaxies decreases with increasing mass in accordance with Eqn (3). The destruction of the satellite galaxies of massive galaxies creates a 'tangle' of stellar streams and eventually stellar spheroidal bulges of massive galaxies.

The interaction of galaxies with the dense gas of their cluster nuclei leads to the appearance of jellyfish galaxies or gaseous and stellar tails of galaxies. ESO 137-001 of the Norma cluster [141] is an example of a galaxy with a welldeveloped stellar tail resulting from the pressure of the oncoming intergalactic gas on the gaseous component of the galaxy. The stellar tail of this galaxy is ~ 20 kpc wide and has a length of 60 kpc; the mass of the gas in it is $\sim 10^9 M_{\odot}$. Lowmass disk galaxies are mostly composed of gas. Tidal destruction of such galaxies leads to the appearance of gas streams at the periphery of massive galaxies. A good example of such a stream was found recently at a distance of about 20 kpc from the center of our Galaxy [142]. A gas stream with dimensions 1000 pc \times 200 pc has a mass of $\sim 10^5 M_{\odot}$ and expansion velocity of ~ 10 km s⁻¹. These parameters correspond to a gas object destroyed by tides about 10⁸ years ago.

Another interesting consequence of the presumably frequent collisions of galaxies in their clusters is the formation of gaseous components of new low-mass galaxies without a dark halo [143]. Indeed, it was previously found that lowmass galaxies typically have no dark component [144]. Therefore, it is possible that galaxy collisions are the cause of the appearance of such galaxies. Other possible consequences of galaxy collisions are their destruction and the formation of new galaxies [145]. Note that the presence of a dark halo is not necessary for all stellar complexes. Its presence is typical of the most massive galaxies, but, for example, star clusters are likely to still be free from the dark component.

The number of known galactic-scale stellar streams rapidly increases with time. As a result, the observed picture of the destruction of dwarf galaxies in the gravitational field of massive galaxies is being substantially enriched. The developed stellar structures of the destroyed satellites of galaxies demonstrate a pattern of stellar streams from the initial stage of their evolution to the appearance of annular stellar streams around the massive galaxies that destroy these dwarfs. A detailed study of the spatial velocities of galactic halo stars in the Sun's neighborhood has shown that about 20% of them are organized into 12 stellar streams, the remnants of the absorbed satellites of the Galaxy [146]. At the same time, retrograde streams are distinguished not only by a low metallicity but also by their large age compared to other stars in the galactic halo.

As shown above, galaxies lead an active life in dense clusters. In addition to the evolution of the stellar and gaseous components that constitute the main life-long occupation of isolated galaxies, cluster galaxies can actively interact with their satellites, neighbors, and intergalactic gas (Fig. 6). The gas can both supply central, massive cD galaxies of the cluster with gas and deprive fast galaxies of the cluster of their gaseous component due to the incoming gas pressure. Galaxy collisions not only influence the evolution of the stellar and gaseous components of colliding galaxies but also stimulate the accretion activity of their central SMBHs.



Figure 6. Options for the destruction of galaxies transforming them into stellar streams.



The interaction of galaxies in dense clusters often leads to their decay and transformation into gravitationally unbound streams of stars. The causes of the destruction of galaxies can be outbursts of star formation in them, collisions of gas-rich galaxies (Figs 6 and 7), and tidal decay during their tidal interaction with the central massive galaxy. The end result of the destruction of galaxies with stellar populations is the appearance of a stellar stream extending along the orbit of the destroyed galaxy around the more massive satellite or its orbit in a cluster of galaxies. A detailed study of the halo of our Galaxy showed that it is in fact the sum of relatively narrow stellar streams, the products of the destruction of satellites of the Galaxy [147]. Our simulation confirms this conclusion.

The stream length is determined by its age and the speed of its constituents. The ratio of the width of the stellar stream (the product of the destruction of a galaxy satellite) to the final size of the annular stream is close to the ratio of the characteristic speed of stars of the destroyed satellite to the characteristic speed of stars of the destroyer galaxy. For $M \sim R^2$ (see Eqn (3)), that ratio is $\sim (m/M)^{1/4}$, where *m* is the mass of the tidally destroyed galaxy and *M* is the mass of the destroyer galaxy. The last ratio can serve as a measure of the mass of a galaxy destroyed and turned into a stellar stream. The stream length, as usual, is a measure of its age.

We consider here the conditions and characteristic time for the dissipation of galactic stellar streams that arose in the decay of low-mass satellites. Let a stellar stream be formed as a result of the decay of a galaxy with a velocity dispersion σ in it. The mass of the larger spherically symmetric galaxy, including this stream, is M, and its radius, R. The velocity dispersion of perturbing objects with mass m is $v = \sqrt{GM/R}$. The radius of the zone of significant perturbation of the velocities of the stream stars by a quantity of the order of σ is $r = Gm/(v\sigma)$. Then, the time required to change the speed of the stream elements by an amount of the order of σ or, in other words, the stellar stream destruction time $\tau_{\rm ff}$, is (see (2))

$$\tau_{\rm ff} = \tau_{\rm d} \left(\frac{\sigma}{v}\right)^2 \frac{M}{m} \,, \tag{12}$$

where $\tau_d = R^{3/2}/\sqrt{GM}$ is the dynamical time of the galaxy. For $M = 0.2R^2$, we have $\tau_{\rm ff} = 10^8 (M/10^{11} M_{\odot})^{1/4}$ years and $\sigma/v \cong (m_0/M)^{1/4}$, where m_0 is the mass of the galaxy disintegrated into a stellar stream. Relation (12) allows appreciating the role of various factors of a gravitational nature in the expansion of stellar streams arising from the destruction of galaxies. The leading one is the ratio of the mass of a galaxy to the mass of the perturbing elements. For stars, the ratio is $M/m \cong 10^7 - 10^{11}$, which allows stellar streams from the decay of low-mass galaxies in dense galaxy clusters can be destroyed in the Hubble time by galaxies of the same cluster, eventually forming the observable continuous stellar medium of the cluster.

To successfully identify stars in the stream originating in destroyed galaxies in the stellar background of an accretor galaxy, a low background brightness is required. This condition makes it obvious that the known stellar streams of galaxies are typically located in the peripheral regions of galaxies with a low surface brightness of the stellar background. The search for stellar streams in areas of high surface brightness requires extensive analysis of the kinematics and chemistry of background stars in order to identify the stream stars.

Other possibilities for the destruction of galaxies and the appearance of stellar streams are associated with global outbursts in star formation in galaxies, leading to their decay after the removal of gas by massive supernovae (see Fig. 6). One of the causes of such an outburst may be the mutual approach of galaxies in the course of their motion in the cluster. It is likely that such outbursts occurred in the Leo I galaxy, as evidenced by the analysis of the existing observational data [148]. The galaxies destroyed in the course of collisions and outbursts of star formation in them eventually replenish the field of intergalactic stars of galaxy clusters. The observations do show a marked increase in the fraction of such stars in a cluster of galaxies over time. This fraction is $\sim 40\%$ at z = 0, but does not exceed $\sim 20\%$ at z = 0.5 [149].

The thick stellar disk and the stellar bulge of the Galaxy are represented by two stellar families: the extremely old first stars of the Galaxy and the stars of the tidally destroyed lowmass satellites of the Galaxy. The separation of these components is a complex problem whose solution can be facilitated by a joint analysis of the kinematics of stars and their chemical composition. The noticeable bimodality of [O/Fe] at $[Fe/H] \leq -0.5$ is well known [150]. This bimodality is a manifestation of the presence of these families. Stars with a high [O/Fe] ratio are probably extremely old stars in the Galaxy, and stars with a low [O/Fe] ratio are stars of lowmass galaxies that were swallowed up by our Galaxy in the past. The relatively low abundance of oxygen in these stars can be explained by the high intensity of the galactic winds of these galaxies, generated by intense star formation with bursts of massive supernovae and the low gravitational potential of such galaxies.

Approaches and collisions of galaxies in the course of their motion in clusters create conditions for enhanced star formation in their gaseous disks. E- and S-galaxies, blown through by the galactic wind, are unable to accumulate gas in their peripheral regions. The wind in them is heated and supported by the bursts of SNIa supernovae. However, estimates show that the energy of such supernovae is not enough to prevent the cooling of gas in the dense nuclei of these galaxies, which leads to its accumulation over time. As a result, the star formation activity in the nuclei of spheroidal galaxies can be an effective mechanism for both the recurrent activity of circumnuclear gaseous disks of such galaxies [151– 153] and the accretion activity of SMBHs in their nuclei [154]. Indeed, the proportion of galaxies with active star formation is markedly increased in the dense nuclei of galaxy clusters. The most massive galaxies with accreting SMBHs, quasars and active galactic nuclei, are also concentrated there.

6.1 Retrograde stream motion in the Galaxy

Clear evidence of the active absorption by our Galaxy in past epochs of some of its satellites is provided by the existence of an extensive population of stars with retrograde spatial rotation (i.e., reverse relative to the galactic disk rotation) of the main mass of the disk and the bulge of the Galaxy. The first to consider such stars were Parenago [155] and Vorontsov-Velyaminov [156]. Modern studies have shown that the retrograde stellar population of the galactic halo is the product of absorption by the Galaxy of its low-mass satellites. In addition to its kinematics, this population is distinguished by a low abundance of heavy elements [157, 158]. This is natural for stars of low-mass satellite galaxies absorbed by our Galaxy in the course of its evolution.

The study of the kinematics of Galactic halo stars with a low metallicity [Fe/H] < -1.0 revealed several isolated groups of stars with similar orbital parameters. As it turned out, these groups are stellar streams produced in the decay of satellite galaxies absorbed by our Galaxy in the past. They clearly demonstrate the features of assembling the stellar bulge and the halo of our Galaxy. Halo stars with [Fe/H] < -2.5 are the sum of two almost equal populations: those with prograde and those with retrograde motion around the galactic center [159]. Most of these stars previously belonged to satellites with random orbital directions absorbed by the Galaxy during its formation. A detailed analysis of 23 stellar streams of the Galaxy allowed finding the dwarf galaxies that are progenitors of some of these streams. Eight of the observed streams turned out to be associated with massive globular clusters, probably former constituents of the destroyed satellites of the Galaxy.

A detailed analysis of the orbits and chemical composition of 54 low-mass satellite galaxies and globular clusters of our Galaxy [160] showed that, at $[Fe/H] \ge -1.0$, most of them have a common galactic direction of rotation and a relatively low (less than ~ 0.3) eccentricity of orbits, and their orbit planes are close to the plane of the Galaxy. This means that these stars originated in the disk of the Galaxy. Satellites with [Fe/H] < -1.0 often have high-eccentricity and even retrograde orbits around the galactic center. Their orbit planes deviate significantly from the plane of the Galaxy. We add that the pericenters of the orbits of the studied satellites are in the range of 0.5–30 kpc, and the apocenters are in the range of 2-100 kpc [160]. Evidence of the active role of mergers in the evolution of the Galaxy is also provided by the presence of stars with velocities close to or even greater than the escape velocity of ~ 445 km s⁻¹ [161]. All this is evidence of the past activity of the Galaxy in the absorption of its satellite lowmass galaxies.

6.2 Consequences of collisions of galaxies

Let us consider the observed consequences of the collision and merger of galaxies. Figures 6 and 7 show scenarios of these processes. Some galaxies are members of their dense clusters. At the same time, the example of our well-studied Galaxy shows that massive galaxies are immersed in a cloud of their satellites, whose number reaches many dozens [162]. In the process of cluster evolution, high-speed collisions clear galaxies of gas (see Fig. 6), which may be one of the causes of the appearance of S0 galaxies [163].

Collisions with low relative velocities and gravitational deceleration lead to the merger of galaxies, and this leads to several observable consequences, such as the retrograde rotation of some of the stars of galaxies [164, 165] and the appearance of double galactic nuclei [166]. A detailed analysis of the chemical composition of stars allowed establishing that stars with retrograde rotation in the Galaxy have an order of magnitude lower metallicity than other stars [167]. In addition, the merger of galaxies explains the presence of binary stars outside the central nuclei in a significant number of observed galaxies [166, 168]. The accretion activity of some quasars is provided by mergers of dense nuclei of colliding galaxies [169].

7. Causes of the destruction of galaxies and their satellites

7.1 Destruction of the stellar component of a galaxy

The wide distribution of relatively narrow stellar streams found near galaxies raises the question of the conditions for their formation [147]. A possible scenario for the appearance of such streams is associated with the destruction of one of the interacting galaxies (see Fig. 6). Observations have shown [170] that up to 20% of starlight from clusters of galaxies belongs to the continuous stellar background of these clusters and cannot be directly associated with individual galaxies. During their evolution in clusters, a significant proportion of galaxies decay for various reasons, thus forming a continuous stellar background of the cluster.

An example of a gaseous component of a galaxy destroyed in a collision [171] is the Leo Ring Cloud. Here, the giant gaseous ring (with a radius of about 10^5 pc) of neutral hydrogen is devoid of stars and has an almost solar metallicity. The mass of neutral hydrogen in this ring is $\sim 2 \times 10^9 M_{\odot}$, and the expansion rate is $\sim 100 \text{ km s}^{-1}$, which corresponds to the age of $\sim 10^9$ years. The cause of the formation of such a ring may be an outburst of star formation in a precursor disk galaxy or a collision of two galaxies at hyperbolic velocities (see Fig. 7). These processes could significantly reduce the mass of the galaxy by 'liberating' its gaseous component.

The role of galaxy collisions in the formation of stellar halos of massive galaxies has been quantified using our Galaxy as an example [172]. The study of degenerate dwarfs close to the Sun has shown that about 15% of them are relatively young (their ages are several billion years) but have high spatial velocities corresponding to the stars of the galactic halo. Because the formation of 'native' halo stars was completed about 10 to 12 billion years ago, young degenerate halo stars are probably the decay products of young dwarf satellites of the Galaxy, absorbed in the course of its evolution.

7.2 Role of intergalactic gas in the evolution of galaxies

The observed cluster galaxies are immersed in a relatively dense intergalactic gas with the density $n_{\rm H} = 10^{-3}-10^{-2}$ cm⁻³ [173]. The interaction of this gas with the gaseous component of moving galaxies can lead to the appearance of stellar tails in them (see Fig. 7). These are the so-called 'jellyfish' galaxies [174–176]. The stellar tails of jellyfish galaxies are bimodal. Some of these tails owe their appearance to the loss by the galaxy of its dense peripheral gas due to the pressure of intergalactic gas advancing at a speed of up to 1000 km s⁻¹, followed by star formation in the lost gas [177]. The other part may be the product of star formation in the dense intergalactic gas streaming around a moving galaxy with density $n_{\rm H}$. The condition for the cooling of the gas during the motion of a disk galaxy with a velocity of the order of the parabolic one at its edge is given by

$$n_{\rm H} > \frac{0.005}{k^2} \left(\frac{M}{10^{11} M_{\odot}}\right)^{1/4} {\rm cm}^{-3},$$
 (13)

where k is the coefficient in relation (3) for the mass and radius of a galaxy [19],

$$\frac{R}{\rm pc} = k10^4 \left(\frac{M_{11}}{M_{\odot}}\right)^{1/2}.$$
(14)

It follows from relation (13) that cooling of the intergalactic gas and star formation in it are possible in low-mass galaxies with $k \simeq 2-3$ (low surface brightness), moving in the dense nuclei of their clusters, which is indeed observed.

The loss of gas by a disk galaxy leads to a decrease in its density and surface brightness. Observations show that the sizes of low surface brightness galaxies are increased by several times relative to normal sizes [178]. The low surface density of such galaxies makes it easier for them to lose gas due to the pressure of the incoming gas of the environment [179, 180]. In this case, the galaxy not only may lose the gas but also can be entirely destroyed in the dense nuclei of galaxy clusters. As a result of the destruction of such galaxies, stellar streams can form. Dense star clusters can then be located inside stellar streams. Therefore, the observed stellar streams of the nature under consideration can be of interest as signatures in the search for new star clusters belonging to other galaxies.

The answer to the question about the nature of stellar streams in galaxies and their neighborhoods is not new. The synchronous spatial motion of stars was already attributed to the decay of star clusters about 100 years ago [181-183]. Recently, in connection with significant progress in observational and theoretical instrumental capabilities, the observational study of the morphology of tidal phenomena and the physics of stellar streams, including those located near galaxies, has attracted great and thorough attention. Particular attention is devoted to the so-called Magellanic Stream, a gas-star structure connecting the Magellanic Clouds and our Galaxy. It covers about 200 degrees of the southern sky [184] and includes star clusters along with gas and stars. Numerical simulation suggests the scenario of the formation of this structure during the last encounter of the Magellanic Clouds with our Galaxy [185, 186]. It is possible that the approaches of the Magellanic Clouds to the Galaxy in the past occurred repeatedly, which complicates the observed picture and, naturally, the attempted interpretations with the help of models. The study of the Magellanic Stream and other stellar streams allows us to observe the pattern of tidal phenomena in the world of galaxies 'from the inside' and, in particular, to evaluate the role of the dark component of the Galaxy in its morphology.

Examples of decaying globular clusters observed as extended structures resembling 'stellar spears' (Palomar 5 and Palomar 15) several ten parsecs in size [187, 188] give an idea of the consequences of tidal disruption of relatively weakly bound stellar systems. In addition, these clusters may be the nuclei of tidally destroyed dwarf galaxies, which continuously replenish the stellar population of the galactic halo. Currently, more than 40 stellar streams are known in the Galaxy [189]. The study of the galactic halo with [Fe/H] < -2.0 allows identifying kinematically distinguished stellar streams among them [190]. An analysis of the [O/Fe] and [Fe/H] values of halo stars led to the discovery of groups of low-metallicity stars distinguished by their chemical composition, which in the past belonged to nearby low-mass galaxies. They are continuously absorbed by our Galaxy in the course of its evolution in the Local Cluster [191]. The wellknown bimodality of the distribution of low-metallicity stars in terms of the [O/Fe] ratio [192] is a possible consequence of the mixing of the oldest stars in the Galaxy with stars of the satellite galaxies absorbed by it.

To date, the most complete study of stellar streams in our Galaxy has been carried out by Ibata et al. [193] based on the Gaia DR2 and Gaia EDR3 catalogs. Streams associated with 11 globular clusters have been found, including ω Cen. The length of the observed part of the streams in the sky ranges from several to 100 degrees of the celestial sphere. Some of the stellar streams are likely to have belonged to dwarf galaxies destroyed by the tidal forces of our Galaxy. This is evidenced by the low abundance of iron, which does not exceed 10% of the solar abundance. The authors of [193] conclude that the halo of our Galaxy, woven from threads of stellar streams, resembles a 'ball of wool.' This conclusion can also be applied to the stellar component of stellar halos and other stellar disks of galaxies, as well as to the stellar medium of the field of galaxy clusters.

The study of the nearest massive neighbor of the Galaxy, the Andromeda Nebula [194], is indicative. Within 150 kpc of the Andromeda Nebula, several arched star formations are visible, including six globular clusters. These arcs are probable products of the tidal decay of Andromeda's satellites, resulting in the formation of stellar streams in the halo with a length of up to 120 kpc in the observed part alone. A comparison of the structures of the halo of our Galaxy and the Andromeda Nebula is indicative of the significant role played by the destruction of satellites of massive galaxies in the morphology of their stellar halos. A detailed study of the periphery of neighboring galaxies has shown that stellar streams of different shapes and different observed brightnesses are very diverse, as was demonstrated, for example, in [195–199].

Recent studies allow expanding the observed information on the effect of the pressure of the oncoming intergalactic gas on the morphology and evolution of galaxies. Its effect increases with the mass of the clusters, reflecting the role of the velocity and density of the gas. The intergalactic gas has been found to suppress star formation in galaxies by removing gas from them on a short time scale of $\sim 10^7$ years. The role of the star formation suppression effect increases as the redshift increases. Observations show that the oncoming gas of the cluster mixes with the gas of peripheral disk galaxies, and this leads to the appearance of dense gaseous tails of galaxies. It is interesting that star formation is

observed in the densest gas tails of this kind. We note that the pressure of the oncoming intergalactic gas can also play an important role in the evolution of galaxy clusters. The rapid loss of gas by low-mass galaxies at high velocities due to the pressure of dense intergalactic gas leads to the decay of the stellar component of such galaxies with their transformation into a stellar stream.

7.3 Causes of destruction of galaxies and their satellites

We now discuss the possible causes of the destruction of cluster galaxies, which ultimately lead to the appearance of stellar streams of gravitationally unbound stars. These causes include the interaction of galaxies with the dense gaseous medium of galaxy clusters, collisions of galaxies, and outbursts of star formation in them, leading to the loss of a massive gaseous component (see Fig. 6). An observed example of the interaction of disk galaxies with the gaseous environment of their clusters are the so-called jellyfish galaxies, mentioned in Section 7.2. They are characterized by an umbrella morphology and active star formation at the edges. The length of the gas-star tails of such galaxies reaches 100 kpc, which, at the velocity of galaxies equal to 300 km s⁻¹, corresponds to their formation time of 3×10^8 years. Estimates show (see Eqn (13)) that this time is sufficient for the heated gas to cool and for stars to form in the streaming gas of the dense nucleus of the parent galaxy cluster (see Eqn (1)). An active increase in the observational base of jellyfish galaxies [200] and three-dimensional gasdynamic models of the interaction of inhomogeneous gas disks of galaxies with a dense gas of the environment [201, 202] have allowed visualizing the picture of this phenomenon. A list of 11 galaxies of this type is given in [203].

The loss of peripheral regions of the gaseous disk of moving galaxies under the action of the gas of the environment explains the appearance of rings of young stars near such galaxies, which are probably not gravitationally bound to them [175]. In addition, it is easy to imagine that fast motion in a dense gaseous medium can lead to a complete loss of gas by a galaxy (see Fig. 6). We find a condition for this to occur. In the framework of a single-zone homogeneous model of a galaxy with mass M and radius R, the condition for gas loss with an average density $\rho_g = 3M_g/4\pi R^3$ due to the pressure of the incoming gas of the environment (with density ρ_0) is given by

$$\frac{v}{v_{\rm k}} \ge \left(\frac{\rho_{\rm g}}{\rho_0}\right)^{1/2},\tag{15}$$

where v is the spatial velocity of the galaxy and $v_k = (GM/R)^{1/2}$ is the Keplerian velocity at the edge of the galaxy. It follows from the expression for v_k that, under condition (15), fast galaxies with a low surface gas density can indeed lose their gas in a dense gaseous medium of galaxy cluster nuclei. It becomes clear that elliptical or lenticular (S0) galaxies in dense clusters can lose gas not only under the action of type-SNIa supernovae but also due to the ram pressure of the intergalactic gas. The rapid removal of gas from galaxies in the dense nuclei of their clusters leads to a number of interesting consequences, shown in Fig. 7. If the mass of the galaxy would turn into an E or S0 galaxy

without star formation and with wind supported by SNIa supernovae. Observations support the possibility of the formation of at least some E galaxies in the course of collisions of their predecessors [204].

If the mass of the stars of a moving galaxy was less than the mass of the gas in it, then the rapid loss of gas by such a galaxy would lead to the decay of its stellar component, eventually turning into a stellar stream along the galactic orbit within the cluster. Indeed, the mass of gas in low-mass disk galaxies ($M < 10^{10} M_{\odot}$) is often comparable to that of their stars [205]. This process is also possible for satellites of massive galaxies, whose gas loss is initiated by their powerful galactic wind. Such a wind can also be caused by the collision of galaxies, which increases the rate of star formation in them and the power of the galactic wind by a factor of several ten [205]. Collisions leading to an increase in the rate of star formation simultaneously lead to a sharp increase in the rate of supernova bursts associated with the end of the evolution of massive $(M \ge 8M_{\odot})$ stars. This can also lead to the loss of the gaseous components of colliding galaxies and the subsequent destruction of their stellar components [138], with their transformation into stellar streams.

It was found in [206] that close satellites of the Galaxy typically belong to E-galaxies, while distant satellites are irregular and disk galaxies with gas and star formation. It is natural to assume that close satellites repeatedly crossed the dense gaseous disk of our Galaxy in the past and lost their gaseous components, turning into E galaxies. Distant satellites whose orbits lie far from the dense gaseous disk of the Galaxy preserve the ability to keep their gaseous disks, in which star formation is supported. A study of the mass spectrum of satellites of massive galaxies has shown that it can be represented by the function $dN/dM \sim M^{-5/4}$ [207]. The reduced slope of the satellite mass function compared to the classical one, equal to -2 (see Eqn (1)), may indicate the predominant destruction of low-mass satellites in the course of interactions with central galaxies and their absorption by massive galaxies. Thus, galaxy collisions involving the intergalactic gas of galaxy clusters play an important role in determining the proportion of E galaxies (devoid of gas and star formation) [208].

Collisions of galaxies in dense clusters are, by virtue of empirical relation (3), a common occurrence. Approaches and collisions of galaxies significantly affect their morphology. Tidal tails were the first reliable indicators of the gravitational interaction of nearby galaxies. It is possible that the appearance of spirals of some disk galaxies is a consequence of the interaction of their disk with the dark halo of these galaxies, whose gravitational field has a dipole component. This component can either be the original one, inherited from the time of the formation of a massive galaxy, or be excited in the course of evolution by collisions with neighboring galaxies. The global result of the destruction of galaxies in the process of their interaction is the enrichment of the intergalactic medium of galaxy clusters with stars and ACPS material. Observations show that up to a quarter of the light and the corresponding fraction of the mass of galaxy clusters belong to intergalactic stars and gas, which relatively uniformly fill the volume of their clusters [209]. The large proportion of intergalactic stars in clusters is a measure of the active role played by galaxy collisions in their destruction.

A collision of galaxies can lead to star formation in their common gas with the decay of the newly formed stellar system (see Fig. 7). Examples of such collisions are the Taffy system (UGC 1294/5) and Arp 194 [209], which demonstrate gas structures with star formation between two stellar disks. The destruction of galaxies during their collisional evolution in clusters is a common phenomenon in the world of galaxies, which continuously replenishes the extragalactic environment of clusters with stars.

The star formation rate controlled by hydrogen ionization was estimated in [121] as

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\rho_{\mathrm{g}}}{\mathrm{d}t} = -5 \times 10^7 \rho_{\mathrm{g}}^2 \, \mathrm{s}$$

where ρ_g [g cm⁻³] is the gas density. Given the observed correlation $M \cong 0.2R^2$ (see Eqn (3)), where M and R are the mass and radius of a galaxy, we find that, for $M \leq 10^7 M_{\odot}$, the characteristic star formation time is less than the Keplerian time. As a result, in the course of the initial outburst of star formation, a spherically symmetric galaxy of such a mass can disintegrate, having lost most of its mass in the form of gas and turning into a stellar stream. Observations confirm the role of the mutual approach of galaxies in the activation of star formation in them [210]. The decay of a significant part of low-mass galaxies also helps us to understand the causes of the gradual decrease in the slope of the mass function of galaxies with age [19].

Thus, a very probable mechanism for the decay of young gas-rich galaxies, following the example of the decay of star clusters [8], is the initial outburst of star formation in them. The conditions for this phenomenon, as indicated in Section 6, are the compactness and spherical symmetry of a young galaxy. The latter condition allows assuming an efficient transfer of the kinetic energy of supernova shells to the energy of motion of the gaseous component of the galaxy. The characteristic kinetic energy of the shell of a massive supernova is $\sim 10^{50}$ erg. The gravitational energy of the gas component of the galaxy, given $M = 0.2R^2$ (see Eqn (3)), is $\sim 10^{59} M_{11}^{3/2}$ erg (here, $M_{11} = M/10^{11} M_{\odot}$). Under the condition that the Salpeter initial stellar mass function $(dN/dM \sim M^{-2.35})$ is applicable, we have $\sim 100M_{\odot}$ of less massive stars with $M > 1M_{\odot}$ per massive supernova (with a mass greater than $10M_{\odot}$). It hence follows that, when the mass of young stars is greater than $M_{11}^{3/2}$, the energy of supernovae (starburst products) is sufficient to rid such a galaxy of the gaseous component with a mass of the order of the galaxy mass. For an outburst of star formation to occur, the Keplerian time of the galaxy ($\sim 3 \times 10^7 M_{11}^{1/4}$ years) must be shorter than the lifetime of massive stars ($\sim 10^7$ years). That is, for galaxies with a mass less than $\sim 10^9 M_{\odot}$, the transformation into stars of just ~ 0.1 of the entire mass of its gaseous component is sufficient to rid it of the gaseous component and hence destroy its stellar component. Observations show that galaxies with a gas mass greater than that of stars are common among galaxies with a total mass less than $\sim 10^{10} M_{\odot}$ [211]. The effectiveness of this mechanism depends on the degree of symmetry; ordinary disk galaxies 'dump' the excess supernova energy with the help of polar wind. The stellar component of galaxies destroyed in this way transforms over time into a stellar stream and replenishes the field of intergalactic cluster stars.

An outburst of star formation in low-mass satellites of massive galaxies can be caused by tides. If the orbit of a satellite is sufficiently elliptical, an outburst can occur with an increase in the star formation rate in the perihelion part of its orbit. This may explain the relatively short, $\sim 5 \times 10^8$ years,

outburst of star formation in the faint $(M_V = -7^m)$ dwarf galaxy Eridanus II, a satellite of our Galaxy [212]. Another example is the galaxy BOSS–EUVLG1 [213] with a mass of $\sim 10^{10} M_{\odot}$ and a star formation rate of $\sim 10^3 M_{\odot}$ year⁻¹. The observed rate of gas loss by this galaxy is $\sim 50 M_{\odot}$ year⁻¹. This suffices for a significant decrease in its mass in a time comparable to its dynamical time, which not only can significantly expand the galaxy, turning it into a galaxy of low surface brightness, but also may completely destroy it, turning it into a stellar stream over time. It is interesting that star formation outbursts can also be caused by the immersion of galaxies into the dense gaseous environment of the nuclei of their clusters, as is demonstrated by an analysis of galaxies of 40 observed galaxy clusters [214].

The main conclusion of the above analysis is that, regardless of the mechanism of the decay of stellar systems (expansion of HII zones as the cause of the sweeping out of gas, an outburst of star formation with explosions of massive supernovae, or collisions of gas-rich galaxies (see Figs 6 and 7)), a dense gravitationally unbound cloud of stars eventually appears. The further evolution of this cloud is determined by its environment. The decay of a single galaxy in a galaxy cluster leads to the transformation of its stellar component into a stellar stream along the orbit of this galaxy in the cluster. The time of destruction of such a stream in a cluster due to a collision with galaxies can be estimated as follows. We assume that a stationary cluster of galaxies with mass M and radius R consists of identical galaxies, each with mass m and radius r. Dispersion of the velocities of the stars of the decayed galaxy is $v = \sqrt{Gm/r}$, and the velocity of stream stars and cluster galaxies is $V = \sqrt{GM/R}$. We assume that the condition for the decay of a stellar stream is a change in the velocities of its components in the course of its evolution by the value of the initial dispersion of stars under the influence of approaching the cluster galaxies. A simple analytic calculation leads to the following estimate of the lifetime of a stellar stream resulting from the destroyed galaxy:

$$\tau = \frac{R}{r} \frac{R^{3/2}}{G^{1/2} M^{1/2}} = \frac{R}{r} \tau_{\rm d} \approx \tau_{\rm d} \left(\frac{M}{m}\right)^{1/2},\tag{16}$$

where G is the gravitational constant and $\tau_d = R/v$ is the characteristic dynamical time of the galaxy cluster. With $M = 0.2R^2$ and $m = 0.2r^2$ (see Eqn (3)), this estimate becomes $\tau = 4 \times 10^{10} (M_{15}^{3/4}/m_{11}^{1/2})$ years. Obviously, for the characteristic masses of galaxies of $10^7 M_{\odot} - 10^{11} M_{\odot}$ and clusters of $10^{13} M_{\odot} - 10^{15} M_{\odot}$, this time exceeds the Hubble time. As a result, we come to the conclusion that free stellar streams from destroyed galaxies can persist in the cluster for the Hubble time. The stellar environment of clusters of galaxies in their cluster, which constitutes up to half its mass, is mainly represented by stellar streams, whose degree of development is determined by age. The observational identification of these streams is typically complicated by their low brightness [215].

We consider here some consequences of the collision of galaxies. One such consequence is galaxy mergers (see Fig. 7). When analyzing the conditions for the merger of galaxies and for the existence of satellites of massive galaxies, it is necessary to take the conditions of dynamical friction of their motion in a gravitating medium into account. This process leads to their capture by massive galaxies. This phenomenon is very common in the world of galaxies. It is possible that the popular, most massive globular cluster ω *Cen* is the nucleus of a nearby satellite absorbed by our Galaxy.

The magnitude of the drag force acting on a body moving in a gravitating medium was first found by Chandrasekhar [216]. It can be estimated within a simple model. Let a pointlike body of mass *m* move with a speed *v* in a field of point-like gravitating bodies whose average density is ρ . The motion of the bodies of the medium within a cylinder of radius $r = Gm/v^2$ is then gravitationally perturbed by the moving object. As a result, these bodies concentrate in the tail of that object. A gravitating force *F* decelerating the body thus occurs. It is given by $F \approx G\rho mr \approx (G^2m^2/v^2)\rho$. Deceleration of a mass-*m* satellite due to dynamical friction in a mass-*M* galaxy is

$$\tau = \frac{v^3}{G^2 \rho m} \approx \tau_{\rm d} \, \frac{M}{m} \,, \tag{17}$$

where $\tau_d = R^{3/2}/(M^{1/2}G^{1/2})$ is the dynamical time. Relation (17), derived by Chandrasekhar in 1943 [216], also includes a logarithmic factor of the order of 10, which takes the rearrangement of the field bodies outside the 'zone of influence' of the moving mass *m* into account. Substituting the parameter values characteristic of galaxies in relation (17), we obtain

$$\tau = 3 \times 10^7 \left(\frac{M}{10^{11} M_{\odot}}\right)^{1/4} \frac{M}{m} \text{ years}.$$
 (18)

The average density of galaxies increases as R^{-2} in approaching the galactic nucleus at a constant galaxy rotation rate. Therefore, for $\alpha = R/R_0$, Eqn (18) can be written as

$$\tau = 3 \times 10^7 \alpha^2 \left(\frac{M}{10^{11} M_{\odot}}\right)^{1/4} \frac{M}{m} \text{ years}.$$
 (19)

This condition allows understanding the general pattern of the deceleration of satellites of galaxies in the parent galaxy. It is clear that effective deceleration requires a large mass of the decelerating satellite and its proximity to the dense nucleus of the galaxy. The deceleration and merger of galaxies can result in observable galaxies whose nucleus rotates in the opposite direction to the rotation of the galaxy itself.

We note that the absorption of satellite galaxies leads to the expansion of absorbing galaxies, because the kinetic energy of satellites is decreased due to an increase in the internal energy of these galaxies. The result of this process is the appearance of low surface brightness galaxies [217]. Some of them consist of old red stars, and some also include young stars [218]. When studying distant (z > 1) young galaxy clusters, it was found that the proportion of low surface brightness galaxies in them is one third that in present-day clusters [219]. This is consistent with the collisional mechanism of their formation. Collisions of disk galaxies with hyperbolic velocities are another possibility for the formation of low surface brightness galaxies [138, 220]. The total gaseous component can then become a young galaxy of low surface brightness, and the stellar components can become red galaxies of this type (see Fig. 7).

An analysis of Eqn (18) leads to the conclusion that the characteristic deceleration time strongly depends on the velocity of the decelerated galaxy relative to the one causing deceleration. In massive galaxies with $M \ge 10^{10} M_{\odot}$, most of the mass belongs to the dark halo [221]. As already mentioned, the study of stellar streams in the Galaxy has allowed establishing that some of them move in the direction opposite to the rotation of the stellar component of the Galaxy [222, 223]. This, first, indicates the extragalactic nature of some of the stellar streams and, second, allows us to hope for a detailed analysis of the kinematics of the galactic stellar streams as a future method for estimating the rotation rate of its dark halo.

The merger of galaxies containing SMBHs in their nuclei can lead to the destruction and loss of their stellar components [111]. The final product of such a process may be a binary, or even a single, SMBH, if the final binary SMBH turns out to be close enough for their components to merge in Hubble time. Galaxies with binary SMBHs in their nuclei are known [224]. The stars of galaxies lost in the course of dynamical deceleration of the binary SMBH components acquire high velocities, up to 10^4 km s⁻¹ [225], which for extremely close SMBH components can reach $\sim 10^5$ km s⁻¹ [111]. Obviously, the merging galaxies acquire stellar spears in the process of relaxation, which over time develop into stellar streams in their clusters of galaxies. Interestingly, some of the stars accelerated by close binary SMBHs to such high velocities leave not only their galaxies but also the galaxy clusters, because the parabolic velocities of the clusters do not exceed several thousand kilometers per second even for the most massive clusters of galaxies (see Eqn (3)). Because the characteristic escape velocities of neighboring clusters are also of the order of several thousand kilometers per second, the space between them must be filled with ultrafast stars accelerated by close binary SMBHs of merging galaxies.

The merger of galaxies leads to a number of interesting consequences. The continuous process of tidal destruction of galactic satellites described above results in a noticeable enrichment of the stellar components of the disk and bulge of massive galaxies. This process was especially effective at the early stages of the evolution of galaxies [224-226]. Indeed, an obvious correlation has emerged between the masses of the bulges of massive galaxies and the number and masses of their satellites [227]. The merger of galaxies of comparable masses may result in the formation of galaxies with two stellar disks rotating in opposite directions [228, 229]. Another consequence of the merger of galaxies is the formation of ultracompact spheroidal dwarf galaxies with sizes noticeably smaller than the usual ones (see Eqn (3)). They are actually compact nuclei of satellite galaxies, destroyed by the tides of massive galaxies. As a result of galaxy mergers, galaxies with a reverse metallicity gradient may appear [230]. Absorption of nearby irregular galaxies by E galaxies may support the recurrent process of star formation in their nuclei [231] along with the accumulation of gas lost by old stars. The study of the Magellanic Stream has shown that it contains not only stars but also a gaseous component with a mass comparable to that of the stars [232].

The interaction of galaxies is multifaceted. Along with gas and stars, galaxies have a scattered solid component. The recent discovery of extrasolar asteroids leaves no doubt about the existence of a wide mass spectrum of the solid-body interstellar component of the Galaxy (see Eqn (1)). It is clear that fine dust is quickly decelerated by gas, joining the general field of stellar dust. But coarse-grained dust and sand can preserve the original orbit of the objects that gave rise to them, and when entering Earth's atmosphere they can in

principle point to its source. One way to identify interstellar dust is by the speed of its collision with Earth. The dust of the Solar System has a speed of 12–72 km s⁻¹ relative to Earth, but the speed of the stars of the spherical component of the Galaxy reaches 650 km s⁻¹ [233]. It is interesting that space observations of air showers caused by cosmic rays can eventually be effectively used to search for high-velocity interstellar dust. These observations cover large areas of Earth's surface, hundreds of times larger than the areas controlled by terrestrial observations of meteors. And, most importantly, the first possible indication of a probable intrusion of an interstellar high-velocity component of interstellar dust into Earth's atmosphere already exists [234]. This method of searching for and detecting interstellar dust grains now seems promising for detecting interstellar and, possibly, even intergalactic dust. Currently, it is clear that some of the comets, asteroids, and planets of our Galaxy are extragalactic.

Probably the closest example of a galaxy destroyed by the tidal influence of our Galaxy is the stream that includes the Magellanic Clouds. Linden-Bell [235] found that many satellites of our Galaxy are located along a great circle that includes the Magellanic Clouds. This circle is noticeably inclined to the plane of the Galaxy. A detailed study of the geometry of this circle suggests that its members are products of the tidal decay in the past of a massive, $\sim 10^{11} M_{\odot}$, satellite of our Galaxy [236]. The shape of the circle, which in this case is a stream of members of a galaxy that decayed several billion years ago, coincides with the shape of its orbit. It is possible that a detailed study of the orbits and positions in the sky of the satellites of our Galaxy will in the future allow finding other organized streams, the products of the dynamical evolution of the galactic environment and a vestige of the making of our Galaxy in the past.

Stellar streams - products of the decay of stellar galaxies and satellites of galaxies in the stellar medium-have a long lifetime: according to Eqn (19), their components retain the initial velocity dispersion, filling the initial orbit of the decayed object in a galaxy. The main cause of the 'loss' of stellar streams by observers is the increase in their length over time. This noticeably lowers the surface brightness of the stellar stream, first complicating its identification and eventually practically forbidding it. Therefore, despite the large number of stellar streams discovered so far, they are a small part of all streams in our Galaxy. The remaining streams form a homogeneous medium of the disk and halo of the Galaxy. At the same time, the stellar halo of the Galaxy includes two populations of stars: remnants of the initial spheroidal stages of the evolution of the stellar component of the Galaxy and stars of satellite galaxies absorbed by the Galaxy in the course of its evolution. The study of the chemical composition and kinematics of halo stars will eventually allow distinguishing among the stars of these halo populations.

The observable detection of astronomical streams defined in this review is hindered, as usual, by obvious observational selection effects. The main one is the low surface brightness of these objects, which makes it difficult to distinguish them from the background of other stellar and gaseous objects. The search for stellar copies of star clusters is complicated by the need for a detailed study of the spatial velocities of a large number of stars surrounding these clusters in order to search for stars with velocities, distances, and ages close to those of the corresponding clusters. Such complex work on the identification of astronomical streams has become productive only in recent years with the development of all-wave highly sensitive receiving equipment and modern methods for processing observations. A detailed analysis of the halos of nearby massive galaxies has allowed establishing the presence of planar systems of satellites in them, including dwarf galaxies [237]. These systems may be products of tidal decays of massive satellites of these galaxies. Equation (3) demonstrates that the density of galaxies noticeably decreases as the mass increases. Therefore, the tidal destruction of massive satellites of galaxies leads to the creation of planar stellar systems, which currently mark the orbital plane of the destroyed massive satellite galaxy. The causes of the destruction of satellites is their low density and immersion in the central dense regions of the Galaxy.

Figure 8 shows the results of the evolution of a stellar stream formed by the tides of a destroyed galaxy for up to 10 Gyr in the model whose initial stages of calculations are outlined in [46]. We can see in the figure that, in 1 billion years, the satellite turns into a stellar stream with a length of \sim 30 kpc. The lost stars, as we see in Fig. 8, escape the satellite and form a loop-like stream over time. The length of the stream depends on its age. Note that the stellar stream obtained in Fig. 8 (leftmost panels) is similar to that shown for the stellar stream of the galaxy NGC 5907 [189].

It is easy to see from Fig. 8 that, during the Hubble time of 10 billion years, the stream is almost completely dissipated at the periphery of the Galaxy, becoming part of its halo. The density of points representing decay products is seen to be nonuniform in space. The denser regions show the remnants of a stream that has decayed into several pieces. One piece fills the region near the bulge, and the remaining stars fill the halo almost completely, up to distances of 40 kpc along the radius. The chaotization of the stream with time is clearly visible, caused by the deviation of the galactic potential from spherical symmetry.

In Fig. 9, we consider a variant of the meridional orbit of a satellite falling from the north pole toward the galactic center. Satellite galaxies are observed that cannot withstand the attraction of the Galaxy and fall on it (the falling speed can reach 400 km s⁻¹). An example of such a fall of an old (13.5 Gyr [106]) dwarf galaxy, the satellite Tucana III, is shown in Fig. 9. Tucana III is associated with a stellar stream, has a length of 4.5 kpc, has lost 69% of its mass, and moves in a radial orbit, and, as we see in Fig. 9, its decay products could become the bulge population.

The position of the orbit shows that the Tucana III galaxy, according to calculations, could have passed near the center of the Galaxy in the past. The orbit in this case has a complex shape due to the gravitational potential of the Galaxy. Approaching the bulge (the distance at the periapsis is 2.5 kpc) or even passing through it, Tucana III makes a U-turn and moves away along an elongated (eccentricity 0.9) elliptical orbit. It then returns and continues to move along an intricate closed orbit (Fig. 9).

A detailed study of the Fornax cluster of galaxies made it possible to detect 13 stellar structures in it, which are stellar streams with the radial velocity dispersion ranging from 20 to 100 km s⁻¹ [238]. Most of them owe their appearance to dwarf galaxies that are being or have been tidally destroyed. The study of the kinematics of stars in our Galaxy with a low abundance ([Fe/H] ≤ -0.8) of metals has allowed identifying eight stellar streams associated with known globular clusters [239]. Several dozen such streams not associated



Figure 8. Model of the evolution of a galaxy destroyed in 10 billion years. Pairs of panels (upper xy projection, lower xz projection), from left to right, show the evolution of the cloud in 1, 3, 5, and 10 billion years. Galaxy image is provided by the *Python* and *galpy* library, URL = https://github.com/ henrysky/milkyway.plot.



Figure 9. Radial (passing through the galactic center) orbit of the Milky Way satellite Tucana III [106]. Projections of the Tucana III orbit for 2 billion years are shown. Satellite approaches from the north pole of the Galaxy at a speed of 100 km s⁻¹. Orbit is seen to pass practically through the galactic center. Arrows show the direction of the satellite's motion.

with clusters probably relate to decayed star clusters and satellites of the Galaxy. We note that mergers with galactic satellites can affect the accretion activity of SMBHs located in the nuclei of almost all galaxies. Low-mass, gas-rich satellites can markedly increase the star formation rate in the nucleus, causing an outburst of star formation. The perturbation and kinematics of the stellar field near the black hole may also increase the rate of tidal destruction of stars in the nucleus by the central black hole. We see that the manifestations of the interaction of galaxies with their satellites and neighboring galaxies are diverse, and the observed stellar streams are mere signatures of the close interaction of galaxies in the past and deserve a separate detailed study.

Figures 8 and 9 illustrate the model decay of galaxies and the evolution of their shapes according to a standard scheme. The stellar spear is elongated with time, first turning into an annular stream and then, under the influence of the complex potential of the Galaxy, expanding significantly. The result of such a process with many satellites of the Galaxy coming from different directions is the formation of a spheroidal bulge. Similar absorption processes of nearby satellites also occur in other massive galaxies, which acquire their bulges over time. Let us recall that the stellar disks of galaxies are the sum of streams from destroyed OB associations and star clusters of the disk because all stars are born there.

8. Conclusions

In general, to summarize this review and a number of previous studies, we can conclude that the formation of gravitationally unbound streams of stars completes the picture of the evolution of compact astronomical objects: comets, planetary systems, and stellar ensembles of various types (star clusters and galaxies). Accumulating collisions of dust grains, asteroids, and comets, in concert with gravity (stellar ensembles), concentrate the initial scattered matter of the Universe in the form of gas and dust into compact objects. The processes of evaporation of cometary nuclei and gravitational interaction of planets with their stars in planetary systems and stars among themselves in stellar systems lead to the destruction of some of these relatively compact systems. In such cases, streams are formed made of the objects that make up these systems. With sufficiently high velocities of these objects and sufficient time, the streams, expanding along the orbits of the parent systems, close into rings (in the form of tori) that approximately coincide with the orbits of their parent systems. The ratio of the thickness of the tori to the radii of the rings that form these tori is determined by the ratio of the characteristic velocities of the constituents inside the destroyed systems to the spatial velocities of the systems themselves. The observational study of streams has long been hampered by the difficulty in identifying their constituents, which are normally objects of low surface density. Modern methods for observing such objects allow not only identifying but also studying them. Observational studies and theoretical modeling of the formation and evolution of stellar streams in massive galaxies will eventually turn them into a tool for studying the density profile of the dark halo of these galaxies [240] and the law governing its rotation.

Ultimately, the formation and evolution of the considered streams is the main part of the general evolutionary process of matter in the Universe, responsible for the destruction of systems formed by gravity. The result of such destruction is the formation of meteor showers and the zodiacal light of stars during the destruction of the nuclei of comets and asteroids. The destruction of star clusters of disk galaxies determines the stream structure of galactic stellar disks. The destruction of satellites of massive galaxies and their close neighbors eventually leads to the formation of galactic bulges. Outbursts of star formation and collisions of galaxies with each other lead to the appearance of stellar streams on the scale of galaxy clusters and a well-populated continuous stellar component of these clusters. Thus, gravity, with the help of the processes of dissipation of the thermal energy of gas, creates gravitationally bound systems: planetary systems, star clusters, galaxies, and galaxy clusters. A number of processes described in this review, such as the evaporation of comet nuclei, close passages of planets and stars, and collisions of galaxies, lead to the destruction of the above systems and their transformation into streams of asteroids, comets, planets, and stars. The destruction of streams in the course of their evolution leads to the emergence of a continuous environment of dust in planetary systems, free planets, and stars in stellar systems. A detailed study of the process of decay of astronomical systems is a logical conclusion of the process of studying their evolution in the Universe.

The systems we study are connected by similarities in their origin and evolution; they are all formed as a result of the evaporation of parent systems and the action of tidal forces on the decay products. We list the studied systems.

1. Comets, producing meteor showers in their planetary systems.

2. Planetary systems, due to massive planets producing streams of free asteroids, comets, and planets around their stars.

3. Decay of star clusters under the effect of their loss of the gas component of the original system and star formation, and during the dynamical evaporation of these systems due to pairwise interactions of stars.

4. Decay of OB associations (with the initial size of the order of the thickness of the gaseous disk) of the Galaxy due to their loss of gas and galactic tidal forces.

5. Decay of low-density galaxies that are satellites of massive galaxies due to their loss of gas under the action of ram pressure and due to outbursts of star formation or tidal influence of the central galaxy.

6. Decay of galaxies belonging to a cluster of galaxies due to interaction with other galaxies by mergers or collisions of galaxies with each other, transforming them into stellar streams on the scale of the cluster.

Thus, the decay of galactic, stellar, and planetary systems formed from gas under the influence of gravity turns them over time into stellar and planetary meteor showers, which permeate intergalactic, intragalactic, and circumstellar space. Stellar streams in galaxies are the decay products of clusters, OB associations, and satellite galaxies. They transform the stellar component of galaxies and their halos into a family of stellar filaments and rings. The same morphology is characteristic of the intergalactic stellar component of clusters of galaxies.

Acknowledgments. Image of the galaxy in Figs 8 and 9 are provided by the Python and galpy library, URL = https://github.com/henrysky/milkyway_plot.

The authors thank the referees for their useful remarks and suggestions.

The authors are grateful to the Ministry of Science and Higher Education of the Russian Federation for support under grant no. 075-15-2020-780 (N13.1902.21.0039).

References

- Brahe T De mundi aetherei recentioribus phaenomenis liber secundus. De cometa anni 1577 (Pragae, Bohemiae: Absolvebatur typis Schumanianis, 1603)
- Kepler J Astronomia nova (Pragae, 1609); Translated into English: New Astronomy (Cambridge: Cambridge Univ. Press, 1992)
- Newton I Philosophiae Naturalis Principia Mathematica (Londini: Jussu Societatis Regiæ ac Typis Josephi Streater, 1687); Translated into English: The Mathematical Principles of Natural Philosophy (London: Dawson, 1968)
- Kant I Allgemeine Naturgeschichte und Theorie des Himmels (Königsberg, Leipzig: bey Johann Friederich Petersen, 1755); Translated into English: Universal Natural History and Theory of the Heavens (Edinburgh: Scottish Acad. Press, 1981)
- 5. Schiaparelli G Note e riflessioni intorno alla teoria astronomica delle stelle cadenti (Firenze: Stamperia Reale, 1867) 132 pp.
- Laplace P S "Beweis des Satzes, dass die anziehende Kraft bey einem Weltkörper so groß seyn könne, dass das Licht davon nicht ausströmen kann" Allgemeine Geographische Ephemeriden 4 (1) 1 (1799)

- Tutukov A V, Fedorova A V Astron. Rep. 56 305 (2012); Astron. Zh. 89 343 (2012)
- 8. Tutukov A V Sov. Astron. 31 663 (1987); Astron. Zh. 64 1264 (1987)
- 9. Greaves J S et al. Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 378 L1 (2007)
- Tutukov A V, Dremova G N, Dremov V V Astron. Rep. 64 936 (2020); Astron. Zh. 97 939 (2020)
- 11. Siraj A, Loeb A, arXiv:1904.07224

882

- 12. Siraj A, Loeb A Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. Lett. 507 L16 (2021); arXiv:2011.14900
- 13. Froncisz M, Brown P, Weryk R J *Planet. Space Sci.* **190** 104980 (2020)
- Chandrasekhar S Principles of Stellar Dynamics (Chicago, IL: The Univ. of Chicago Press, 1942)
- 15. Tutukov A V Astron. Astrophys. 70 57 (1978)
- 16. Bok B J Harvard College Observatory Circ. 384 1 (1934)
- Ambartsumyan V A "K voprosu o dinamike otkrytykh zvezdnykh skoplenii" ("On the question of the dynamics of open star clusters") Uchenye Zapiski Leningrad. Gos. Univ. (22) 19 (1938)
- 18. Spitzer L Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 100 396 (1940)
- 19. Tutukov A V Astron. Rep. 63 79 (2019); Astron. Zh. 96 91 (2019)
- Rees M J, in Evolution of Galaxies and Stellar Populations, Proc. of a Conf. at Yale Univ., May 19–21, 1977 (Eds B M Tinsley, R B Larson) (New Haven, CT: Yale Univ. Observatory, 1977) p. 339
- 21. Surdin V G Astron. Tsirk. (1434) 1 (1986)
- 22. Holmes E J. British Astron. Assoc. 5 26 (1894)
- 23. Proctor R A Proc. R. Soc. Lond. 18 169 (1869)
- 24. Eddington A S Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 69 571 (1909)
- 25. Jeans J H Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 76 552 (1916)
- 26. Schilt J Astron. J. 41 105 (1931)
- 27. Oort J H Bull. Astron. Inst. Netherlands 4 269 (1928)
- Ogorodnikov K F, Latyshev I N Sov. Astron. 13 934 (1970); Astron. Zh. 46 1190 (1969)
- Vorontsov-Vel'yaminov B A Sov. Astron. 2 805 (1958); Astron. Zh. 35 858 (1958)
- 30. Lindblad P O Stockholms Observatoriums Ann. 21 (3) (1960)
- 31. Struve O Sky Telescope 23 16 (1962)
- 32. Keel W C et al. Astron. J. 90 708 (1985)
- 33. Tanaka K I Publ. Astron. Soc. Jpn. 33 247 (1981)
- 34. Bournaud F et al. Astron. Astrophys. 425 813 (2004)
- 35. Grillmair C J Astrophys. J. 645 L37 (2006)
- 36. Malhan K et al. Astrophys. J. 920 51 (2021); arXiv:2104.09523
- Mathewson D, in *The Galaxy and the Local Group, Tercentenary* Symp., Herstmonceux Castle, 22–25 July, 1975 (Royal Greenwich Observatory Bull., No. 182) (Herstmonceaux: Royal Greenwich Observatory, 1976) p. 217
- 38. Eggen O J Astron. J. **112** 1595 (1996)
- 39. Pierce M J, Berrington R C Astrophys. J. 531 L99 (2000)
- 40. Ibata R et al. *Nature* **412** 49 (2001)
- 41. Block D L et al. Astrophys. J. 694 115 (2009)
- Ramya P, Reddy B E, in Intern. Workshop on Stellar Libraries, Proc. of a Conf., 5–9 December, 2011, Univ. of Delhi, India (Astronomical Society of India Conf. Ser., Vol. 6, Eds P Prugniel, H P Singh) (Delhi, India: Astronomical Society of India, 2012) p. 125
- 43. Ibata R A, Lewis G F, Martin N F Astrophys. J. 819 1 (2016)
- 44. Carlberg R G Astrophys. J. 838 39 (2017)
- 45. Karademir G S et al. Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 487 318 (2019)
- Tutukov A V, Sizova M D, Vereshchagin S V Astron. Rep. 64 827 (2020); Astron. Zh. 97 820 (2020)
- Tutukov A V, Sizova M D, Vereshchagin S V Astron. Rep. 65 305 (2021); Astron. Zh. 98 314 (2021)
- Tutukov A V, Sizova M D, Vereshchagin S V Astron. Rep. 65 884 (2021); Astron. Zh. 98 780 (2021)
- Tutukov A V, Sizova M D, Vereshchagin S V Astron. Rep. 65 1085 (2021); Astron. Zh. 98 883 (2021)
- Tutukov A V, Smirnov M A Solar Syst. Res. 38 279 (2004); Astron. Vestn. 38 319 (2004)
- 51. Vshivkov V A et al. Astrophys. J. Suppl. 194 47 (2011)
- 52. Olofsson H et al. *Astron. Astrophys.* **391** 1053 (2002)
- 53. González Delgado D et al. Astron. Astrophys. 411 123 (2003)
- 54. Rho J et al. Astrophys. J. 908 232 (2021)
- 55. Slavin J D et al. Astrophys. J. 902 135 (2020)
- 56. Goswami S et al. Astron. Astrophys. 650 A203 (2021)

- 57. Tutukov A V, Shustov B M Astrophysics 63 552 (2020); Astrofiz. 63 631 (2020)
- 58. Poulain M et al. Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 506 5494 (2021); arXiv:2107.09379
- Wong J H W et al. Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 511 5742 (2022); arXiv:2107.08505
- 60. Tully R B, Fisher J R Astron. Astrophys. 54 661 (1977)
- 61. Zwart S P et al. Astron. Astrophys. 652 A144 (2021); ar-Xiv:2105.12816
- 62. Stroemgren E Publ. mindre Meddeler Kobenhavns Observatorium 1441 (1947)
- 63. Oort J H Bull. Astron. Inst. Netherlands 11 91 (1950)
- 64. Charnoz S, Morbidelli A Icarus 188 468 (2007)
- Gonzalez-Egea E et al., in Contributions to the XIV.0 Scientific Meeting, virtual, of the Spanish Astronomical Society, 13–15 July 2020, ID 100; https://www.sea-astronomia.es/reunion-cientifica-2020
- 66. Sekanina Z, Kracht R, arXiv:1703.00928
- 67. Eubahks T M et al., arXiv:2103.03289
- 68. Froncisz M, Brown P, Weryk R J, arXiv:2005.10896
- 69. Musci R et al. Astrophys. J. 745 161 (2012); arXiv:1110.5882
- 70. Durda D D, Greenberg R, Jedicke R Icarus 135 431 (1998)
- 71. Hughes D W Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 199 1149 (1982)
- 72. Colas F at al. Astron. Astrophys. 644 A53 (2020); arXiv:2012.00616
- 73. Ishiguro M et al. Astrophys. J. Lett. 798 L34 (2015)
- 74. Snodgrass C et al. Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 414 458 (2011)
- Fernández J A, Sosa A Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 423 1674 (2012)
- 76. Lisse C et al. *Nat. Astron.* **4** 930 (2020); arXiv:2010.13741
- 77. Ishiguro M et al., arXiv:1412.3894
- 78. Sekhar A, Asher D J Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 437 L71 (2014)
- 79. Ye Q-Z et al. *Astrophys. J.* **814** 79 (2015)
- Kasuga T, Jewitt D "8' Asteroid-Meteoroid Complexes", in Meteoroids. Sources of Meteors on Earth and Beyond (Eds G O Ryabova, D J Asher, M D Campbell-Brown) (Cambridge: Cambridge Univ. Press, 2019) p. 187; arXiv:2010.16079
- 81. Lin Z-Y et al. Astron. Astrophys. 588 L3 (2016)
- 82. Chu L E U et al. Icarus 338 113532 (2020); arXiv:1912.02194
- 83. Nesvorný D et al. Astrophys. J. 845 27 (2017)
- 84. Ye Q-Z et al. Icarus 264 48 (2016)
- Neslušan L et al., in Proc. of the Intern. Meteor Conf., Giron, France 18–21 September 2014 (Eds J-L Rault, P Roggemans) (Mechelen, Belgium: Intern. Meteor Org., 2014) p. 139
- Tinaut-Ruano F et al. Astron. Astrophys. 658 A64 (2022); ar-Xiv:2112.02396
- Ye Q-Z, Brown P G, Pokorný P Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 462 3511 (2016)
- 88. Neslusan L et al. Planet. Space Sci. 125 37 (2016); arXiv:2012.08434
- 89. Egal A et al. Astron. Astrophys. 640 A58 (2020)
- 90. Colas F et al. Astron. Astrophys. 644 A53 (2020)
- 91. Kimura H et al. *Icarus* **159** 529 (2002)
- 92. Zhao Y et al. Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 494 2374 (2020)
- 93. Rein H, Liu S-F Astron. Astrophys. 537 A128 (2012)
- 94. Absil O et al. Astron. Astrophys. 651 A45 (2021); arXiv:2104.14216
- 95. Adam C et al. Astron. Astrophys. 653 A88 (2021); arXiv:2107.06316
- 96. Trevascus D et al. Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. Lett. 505 L21 (2021); arXiv:2105.00626
- 97. Harrison J H D et al. Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 504 2853 (2021); arXiv:2103.05713
- Veras D, Hinkley S Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 505 1557 (2021); arXiv:2105.02243
- 99. Messier Ch Connoissance Temps Mouvements Celestes 227 (1781)
- 100. Herschel W Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. 76 457 (1786)
- 101. Proctor R A Proc. R. Soc. Lond. 18 169 (1869)

105. Jeans J H Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. 199 1 (1902)

106. Blaauw A Publ. Kapteyn Astron. Lab. Groningen 51 1 (1946)

Ndugu N, Abedigamba O P, Andama G Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc.

of the Earth and the Planets (Jerusalem: Israel Program for Scientific

108. Safronov V S Evolution of the Protoplanetary Cloud and Formation

- 102. Eddington A S Nature 106 14 (1920)
- 103. Gamov G Astrophys. J. 87 206 (1938)

107

104. Chandrasekhar S Astrophys. J. 87 535 (1938)

512 861 (2022); arXiv:2202.11935

Translations, 1972); Translated from Russia: Evolyutsiya Doplanetnogo Oblaka i Obrazovanie Zemli i Planet (Moscow: Nauka, 1969)

- 109. Tazzari M et al. Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 506 2804 (2021) 110. Sellek A D, Booth R A, Clarke C J Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 498
- 2845 (2020) 111. Dryomova G N, Dryomov V V, Tutukov A V Astron. Rep. 62 971
- (2018); Astron. Zh. 95 867 (2018)
- 112. Borisov G, Ionov I, Brizgalov O, MPEC 2013-N51: COMET C/2013 N4 (2013)
- 113. Hallatt T, Weigert P Bull. Am. Astron. Soc. 52 (4) 2020n4i201p03 (2020)
- 114. Mróz P et al. Astrophys. J. Lett. 903 L11 (2020)
- 115. Boe B et al. Icarus 333 252 (2019)
- 116. Siraj A, Loeb A Astrophys. J. Lett. 872 L10 (2019)
- 117. Correa-Otto J A, Calandra M F Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 490 2495 (2019)
- 118. Webb J J et al. Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 494 2268 (2020)
- 119. Oort J H, van Herk G Ann. Astrophys. 23 375 (1960)
- 120. Oort J H Observatory 71 129 (1951)
- 121. Firmani C, Tutukov A Astron. Astrophys. 264 37 (1992)
- 122. Voggel K et al. Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 460 3384 (2016)
- 123. Jang S et al. Astrophys. J. 920 129 (2021); arXiv:2107.14246
- 124. Chandrasekhar S Astrophys. J. 67 263 (1943)
- 125. Tutukov A M, Fedorova A M Astron. Rep. 50 785 (2006); Astron. Zh. 83 880 (2006)
- 126. Gagné J et al. Astrophys. J. Lett. 915 L29 (2021); arXiv:2106.11873
- 127. Kuzma P B, Ferguson A M N, Peñarrubia J Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 507 1127 (2021); arXiv:2108.02531
- 128. Coronado J, Fürnkranz V, Rix H-W Astrophys. J. 928 70 (2022); arXiv:2107.00036
- 129. Abbas M, Grebel E K, Simunovic M Astrophys. J. 915 49 (2021); arXiv:2106.00702
- 130. Pearson S et al. Astrophys. J. 926 166 (2022); arXiv:2107.00017
- 131. Ibata R et al. Astrophys. J. 914 123 (2021)
- 132. Arakelyan N, Pilipenko S, Libeskind N Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 481918 (2018)
- 133. Ibata R et al. Astrophys. J. 865 85 (2018)
- 134. Riley A H, Strigari L E Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 494 983 (2020)
- 135. Eubanks T M, arXiv:1912.12730
- 136. Wang E et al. Astrophys. J. 889 37 (2020)
- 137. Méndez-Abreu J, de Lorenzo-Cáceres A, Sánchez S F Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 504 3058 (2021)
- 138. Tutukov A V, Lazareva G G, Kulikov I M Astron. Rep. 55 770 (2011); Astron. Zh. 88 837 (2011)
- 139. Busch M P et al. Astrophys. J. 914 72 (2021)
- 140. Firmani C, Tutukov A V Rev. Mexicana Astron. Astrofis. 27 129 (1993)
- 141. Jáchym P et al. Astrophys. J. 883 145 (2019)
- 142. Li C et al. Astrophys. J. Lett. 918 L2 (2021); arXiv:2108.01905
- 143. Kovács O E, Bogdán Á, Canning R E A Astrophys. J. Lett. 879 L12 (2019)
- 144. Gallagher J S (III), Hunter D A, Tutukov A V Astrophys. J. 284 544 (1984)
- 145. Tutukov A V Astron. Rep. 50 439 (2006); Astron. Zh. 83 496 (2006)
- 146. Ruiz-Lara T et al. Astron. Astrophys. 665 A58 (2022); ar-Xiv:2201.02405
- 147. Ibata R A, Malhan K, Martin N F Astrophys. J. 872 152 (2019)
- 148. Ruiz-Lara T et al. Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 501 3962 (2021)
- 149. Furnell K E et al. Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 502 2419 (2021); arXiv:2101.01644
- 150. Vincenzo F et al. Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 508 5903 (2021); arXiv:2101.04488
- 151. Kruegel E, Tutukov A, Loose H Astron. Astrophys. 124 89 (1983)
- 152. Loose H H, Kruegel E, Tutukov A Astron. Astrophys. 105 342 (1982)
- 153. Song Y et al. Astrophys. J. 916 73 (2021); arXiv:2107.00412
- 154. Allevato V et al. Astrophys. J. 916 34 (2021); arXiv:2105.02883
- 155. Parenago P P Astron. Zh. 23 141 (1946)
- 156. Vorontsov-Velyaminov B Astron. Zh. 31 161 (1954)
- 157. Chiba M, Beers T C Astron. J. 119 2843 (2000)
- 158. Nissen P E, Schuster W J Astron. Astrophys. 511 L10 (2010)
- 159. Kielty C L et al. Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 506 1438 (2021); arXiv:2012.03960

160. Armstrong B M, Bekki K, Lundlow A D Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 500 2937 (2021); arXiv:2011.12535

883

- Li Y-B et al. Astrophys. J. Suppl. 252 3 (2021); arXiv:2011.10206 161.
- Bajkova A T, Bobylev V V Astron. Astrophys. Trans. 32 (3) 177 162. (2021); arXiv:2007.02350
- Spitzer L (Jr.), Baade W Astron. J. 55 183 (1950) 163
- 164. Khoperskov S et al. Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 500 3870 (2021); arXiv:2010.11581
- Young L M et al. Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 495 1433 (2020); 165. arXiv:2005.02355
- Stemo A et al. Astrophys. J. 923 36 (2021); arXiv:2011.10051 166
- 167. Kordopatis G et al. Astron. Astrophys. 643 A69 (2020); ar-Xiv:2009.07192
- Kim D-C et al. Astrophys. J. 904 23 (2020) 168
- 169. Samsing J et al. Nature 603 237 (2022); arXiv:2010.09765
- 170. Kluge M et al. Astrophys. J. Suppl. 252 27 (2021)
- 171. Corbelli E et al. Astrophys. J. Lett. 908 L39 (2021); ar-Xiv:2101.10348
- 172. Torres S et al. Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 502 1753 (2021); arXiv:2101.03341
- 173. Bartalucci I et al. Astron. Astrophys. 608 A88 (2017)
- 174. Ebeling H, Stephenson L N, Edge A C Astrophys. J. Lett. 781 L40 (2014)
- 175. Shamir L Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 491 3767 (2020)
- Gramer W J et al. Astrophys. J. 921 22 (2021); arXiv:2107.11731 176.
- Jáchym P et al., arXiv:1905.13249 177.
- Matharu J et al. Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 493 6011 (2020) 178.
- Sander B, Hensler G Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 501 5330 (2021); 179. arXiv:2012.10535
- 180. Cortese L, Catinella B, Smith R Publ. Astron. Soc. Australia 38 e035 (2021); arXiv:2104.02193
- Boss L J Astron. J. 26 31 (1908) 181.
- 182. Eddington A S Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 69 571 (1909)
- Kapteyn J C, Weersma H A Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 72 743 (1912) 183.
- Bica E et al. Astron. J. 159 82 (2020) 184.
- 185. Vasiliev E, Belokurov V, Erkal D Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 501 2279 (2021)
- 186. Wang J et al. Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 486 5907 (2019)
- Shipp N et al. Astron. J. 160 244 (2020); arXiv:2006.12501 187
- 188. Bonaca A et al. Astrophys. J. 889 70 (2020)
- 189.
- van Dokkum P et al. Astrophys. J. Lett. 883 L32 (2019)
- Limberg G et al. Astrophys. J. 907 10 (2021); arXiv:2011.08305 190. Renaud F et al. Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 503 5846 (2021); 191.
- arXiv:2006.06011 192. Sharma S, Hayden M, Bland-Hawthorn J Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc.
- 507 5882 (2021); arXiv:2005.03646
- 193. Ibata R et al. Astrophys. J. 891 161 (2020)
- 194. Ferguson A M N, MacKey A D, in Tidal Streams in the Local Group and Beyond (Astrophysics and Space Science Library, Vol. 420, Eds H Newberg, J Carlin) (Cham: Springer, 2016) p. 191, https:// doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-19336-6_8
- 195. Carlin J et al., in Tidal Streams in the Local Group and Beyond (Astrophysics and Space Science Library, Vol. 420, Eds H Newberg, J Carlin) (Cham: Springer, 2016) p. 219, https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-3-319-19336-6_9
- 196. Laine S et al. Astron. J. 152 72 (2016)

206. Einasto J et al. Nature 252 111 (1974)

arXiv:2012.08593

208.

505 783 (2021); arXiv:2011.12974

- 197. Laine S et al., arXiv:1812.04897
- 198. van Dokkum P et al. Astrophys. J. 946 50 (2023)
- 199. Hansen T T et al. Astrophys. J. 901 23 (2020)
- 200. Roman-Olveira F et al. Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 500 40 (2021); arXiv:2010.07944
- 201 Calura F, Bellazzini M, D'Ercole A Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 499 5873 (2020); arXiv:2010.09758
- 202. Lee J et al. Astrophys. J. 905 31 (2020); arXiv:2010.11028
- San M et al. Nat. Astron. 6 270 (2022); arXiv:2103.09205 203. 205. Rey M P et al. Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 497 1508 (2020)
- Yoon Y, Lim G Astrophys. J. 905 154 (2020); arXiv:2011.14689 204.

207. Font A S, McCarthy I G, Belokurov V Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc.

209. Yeager T, Struck C Astrophys. J. 905 118 (2020); arXiv:2011.13035

Pallero D et al. Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 511 3210 (2022);

- 211. Yajima H et al. Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 509 4037 (2022); arXiv:2011.11663
- 212. Gallart C et al. Astrophys. J. 909 192 (2021); arXiv:2101.04464
- 213. Álvarez-Márquez J et al. *Astron. Astrophys.* **647** A133 (2021); ar-Xiv:2102.00774
- 214. Durret F et al. Astron. Astrophys. 648 A63 (2021); arXiv:2102.02595
- 215. Cortés J R, Kenney J D P, Hardy E Astrophys. J. Suppl. 216 9 (2015)
- 216. Chandrasekhar S Astrophys. J. 97 255 (1943)
- 217. Shao X et al. Astron. Astrophys. 579 A57 (2015)
- 218. Prole D J et al. Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 500 2049 (2021); arXiv:2010.11210
- 219. Bachmann A et al. Astron. Astrophys. 646 L12 (2021); arXiv:2101.07799
- 220. Fattahi A et al. Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 497 4459 (2020)
- 221. Gallagher J S (III), Hunter D A, Tutukov A V Astrophys. J. **284** 544 (1984)
- 222. Fiorentin P R et al. Astrophys. J. Lett. 907 L16 (2021); arXiv:2012.10957
- 223. Jackson R A et al. Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 511 607 (2022)
- 224. Thibert N et al. Res. Not. AAS 5 144 (2021); arXiv:2106.0266
- 225. Méndez-Abreu J, de Lorenzo-Cáceres A, Sánchez S F, ar-Xiv:2104.07743
- 226. Myeong G C et al. Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 488 1235 (2019)
- 227. Javanwardi B, Kroupa P *Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc.* 493 L44 (2020)
 228. Bevacqua D, Cappellari M, Pellegrini S *Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc.* 511 139 (2022); arXiv:2107.09528
- 229. Rubino M et al. Astron. Astrophys. 654 A30 (2021); ar-Xiv:2107.02226
- 230. Wang X et al. Astrophys. J. 882 94 (2019)
- 231. Sedgwick T M et al., arXiv:2106.13812
- 232. Bustard C, Gronke M Astrophys. J. 933 120 (2022); ar-Xiv:2108.08310
- 233. Seabroke G M et al. Astron. Astrophys. 653 A160 (2021); ar-Xiv:2108.02796
- 234. Khrenov B A et al. *PoS* **395** 315 (2022) https://doi.org/10.22323/ 1.395.0315; arXiv:2108.07021
- 235. Lynden-Bell D Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 174 695 (1976)
- 236. Garavito-Gamargo N et al. Astrophys. J. 923 140 (2021); ar-Xiv:2108.07321
- 237. Heesters N et al. Astron. Astrophys. 654 A161 (2021); ar-Xiv:2108.10189
- 238. Napolitano N R et al. Astron. Astrophys. 657 A94 (2022); ar-Xiv:2109.08695
- 239. Shank D et al. Astrophys. J. 926 26 (2022); arXiv:2109.08600
- 240. Malhan K et al. Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 501 179 (2021); ar-Xiv:2005.12919